Quality of life and morbidity in patients with rectal cancer

Dan Asplund

Department of Surgery Institute of Clinical Sciences Sahlgrenska Academy at the University of Gothenburg

Gothenburg, Sweden

2016



UNIVERSITY OF GOTHENBURG

Quality of life and morbidity in patients with rectal cancer $\ensuremath{\mathbb{C}}$ Dan Asplund 2016

dan.asplund@vgregion.se

.

ISBN 978-91-628-9890-8 (PRINT); 978-91-628-9891-5 (PDF) http://hdl.handle.net/2077/44857

Printed by Ineko, Gothenburg, Sweden 2016

To my wonderful wife and our gorgeous children

Realize deeply that the present moment is all you ever have. Make the Now the primary focus of your life.

Eckhart Tolle

ABSTRACT

Quality of life and morbidity in patients with rectal cancer

Dan Asplund

Department of Surgery, Institute of Clinical Sciences Sahlgrenska Academy at the University of Gothenburg Gothenburg, Sweden

Aim The aim of this thesis was to investigate patient-reported and clinical outcome in patients with rectal cancer with specific focus on treatment-associated morbidity and quality of life.

Method Three clinical studies were conducted: a prospective multicentre cohort study, a retrospective case series and a nationwide cross-sectional questionnaire survey. In addition, population normative data on quality of life were obtained. Two study-specific questionnaires were developed and validated. Clinical data were collected from medical records and national quality registries.

Results Cancer-related intrusive thoughts, a possibly treatable stress-related symptom, independently predicted pretreatment quality of life in patients with a newly diagnosed rectal cancer (paper I-II). Extralevator abdominoperineal excision was associated with an increased rate of perineal wound complications compared with the conventional technique but oncological outcome was no better (paper III). Three years after surgery 50 % of responding patients experienced perineal symptoms and impaired postoperative wound healing emerged as a risk factor (paper IV).

Conclusion Psychological factors should be considered as relevant confounders in relation to quality of life in clinical studies. Efforts to decrease perineal wound complications following abdominoperineal excision are important, as complications may increase the risk for chronic perineal symptoms. Such symptoms are common three years after abdominoperineal excision.

Keywords Rectal cancer; Quality of life; Morbidity; Abdominoperineal excision; Intrusive thoughts; Sense of coherence; Chronic perineal symptoms.

ISBN: 978-91-628-9890-8 (PRINT); 978-91-628-9891-5 (PDF) http://hdl.handle.net/2077/44857

LIST OF PAPERS

This thesis is based on the following papers, referred to in the text by their Roman numerals.

- Self-reported quality of life and functional outcome in patients with rectal cancer QoLiRECT.
 Asplund D, Heath J, González E, Ekelund J, Rosenberg J, Haglind E, Angenete E.
 Dan Med J 2014;61(5): A4841
- II. Pretreatment quality of life in patients with rectal cancer is associated with intrusive thoughts and sense of coherence. Asplund D, Bisgaard T, Bock D, Burcharth J, González E, Haglind E, Kolev Y, Matthiessen P, Rosander C, Rosenberg J, Smedh K, Åkerblom Sörensson M, Angenete E. Submitted for publication
- III. Outcome of extralevator abdominoperineal excision compared with standard surgery: results from a single centre. Asplund D, Haglind E, Angenete E. Colorectal Dis 2012;14(10): 1191-1196
- IV. Persistent perineal morbidity is common following abdominoperineal excision for rectal cancer.
 Asplund D, Prytz M, Bock D, Haglind E, Angenete E.
 Int J Colorectal Dis 2015;30(11): 1563-1570

ABBREVIATIONS

APER	The AbdominoPErineal Resection study
ASA	American Society of Anesthesiologists physical status classification
COLOR II	The COlorectal cancer Laparoscopic or Open Resection trial
EORTC	European Organisation for Research and Treatment of Cancer
LARS	Low Anterior Resection Syndrome
TME	Total Mesorectal Excision
QoLiRECT	The Quality of Life in RECTal cancer study

TABLE OF CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	1
Rectal cancer	1
Pretreatment staging	1
Surgery	3
Neoadjuvant treatment	5
Adjuvant treatment	7
Follow-up	8
Postoperative complications	8
Outcome measures in clinical research	8
Quality of life	9
Treatment-related morbidity	
Anatomical basis for physical dysfunction	
Sexual dysfunction	14
Urinary dysfunction	14
Bowel and stoma-related dysfunction	
Perineal morbidity	
Psychological determinants of quality of life	
Intrusive thoughts	
Sense of coherence	
Аім	
PATIENTS AND METHODS	
General methodological considerations	
Studies and sources of data	
Paper I	21
Paper II	21
Paper III	23
Paper IV	23
Methodological aspects	25

Comparability	
External validity	
Inclusion rate and compliance	
Validity of data	
Statistical considerations	
Quality of life	
RESULTS AND COMMENTS	
Main results	
Paper I	
Paper II	
Paper III	
Paper IV	
Comments and discussion	
Quality of life	
Intrusive thoughts	
Sense of coherence	
Perineal wound infection	
Perineal wound healing	
Perineal wound reconstruction	
Circumferential resection margin involvement	
Chronic perineal symptoms	
Errata	
GENERAL DISCUSSION AND CLINICAL RELEVANCE	
FUTURE PERSPECTIVES	
CONCLUSIONS	
SAMMANFATTNING PÅ SVENSKA	
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	
References	50
Appendix	

INTRODUCTION

Rectal cancer

Some 2000 people are diagnosed with rectal cancer each year in Sweden, making it one of the ten most common cancers¹. While some carry an increased risk because of an inherited predisposition, most cases are sporadic. Dietary and lifestyle factors such as red and processed meat, alcohol and smoking may increase the risk for rectal cancer, whereas dietary fibre, calcium and physical activity seem to be protective²⁻⁴.

Treatment has improved in recent decades resulting in a markedly increased five-year relative survival, which today exceeds 60 %⁵. In countries where surgery has been centralised, rectal cancer today has a better prognosis than colon cancer^{6, 7}.

Symptoms of rectal cancer include rectal bleeding and a change of bowel habits as well as anaemia, weight loss and sometimes abdominal or sacral pain. Symptoms are often vague, although some patients present with acute obstruction necessitating emergency surgery.

Pretreatment staging

Treatment algorithms are complex and dependent on both clinical and patient-related factors. Different treatments are associated with varying degrees of side effects and functional consequences, which emphasize the importance of correct pretreatment staging.

When a rectal tumour is suspected, investigations aim to verify the diagnosis microscopically (Figure 1) and to stage the tumour, i.e. to establish how far it has grown and spread. Investigations include rigid rectoscopy (to determine the distance from the distal tumour border to the anal verge, and to acquire biopsies), magnetic resonance imaging of the abdomen and pelvis (to determine loco-regional tumour growth and exclude intra-abdominal metastases) (Figure 2), computed tomography of the chest (to exclude lung metastases) and colonoscopy (to exclude synchronous tumours in the colon). Endoscopic ultrasound may be helpful to identify those few tumours that may be removed by a local excision^{8, 9}.



Figure 1. Microscopy image of a rectal adenocarcinoma. Courtesy of Dr Mats Wolving, Department of Clinical Pathology and Cytology, Sahlgrenska University Hospital.

When investigations are completed, the treatment for the individual patient is discussed in a multidisciplinary team conference where the imaging is reviewed^{10, 11}. The distance from the distal tumour border to the anal verge has implications for the choice of surgical procedure, i.e. if a sphincter-saving operation can be performed or if a permanent colostomy is necessary. The relationship of the tumour to the mesorectal fascia is important (Figure 2). If the tumour extends to the mesorectal fascia, there is a risk of an involved circumferential resection margin if a standard total mesorectal excision is performed, as will be discussed in the next section¹². Presence or absence of lymph node metastases, malignant cells within blood vessels beyond the muscularis propria, referred to as extramural vascular invasion, and the relation of the tumour to the surrounding anatomy are other factors that affect treatment decisions. The detection of distant metastases (most commonly in the liver or the lungs) makes curative treatment impossible in some cases, as will be further discussed¹³. Patient characteristics such as age, comorbidity, performance status and sphincter function as well as patient preferences are also important to consider in relation to available treatment options. Accurate staging by magnetic resonance imaging, multidisciplinary management and, more importantly, better use of preoperative radiotherapy and improvements in surgical technique have all contributed to improved results of treatment in the last decades¹³⁻²³. Treatment options and considerations are discussed below.



Figure 2. Magnetic resonance image in the transverse plane depicting a rectal tumour located 10 cm from the anal verge. The tumour is visible as a thickening of the rectal wall and surrounded by the mesorectum. Courtesy of Dr Göran Andersson Ekebrån, Department of Radiology, Sahlgrenska University Hospital/Östra.

Surgery

Surgery is the cornerstone of curative treatment for rectal cancer. There are two main abdominal procedures: anterior resection²⁴ and abdominoperineal excision^{25, 26}. An anterior resection involves the partial or complete removal of the rectum followed by the creation of an anastomosis with or without a temporary diverting loop ileostomy, while an abdominoperineal excision results in the complete removal of the rectum including the anus and a permanent colostomy.

An anterior resection is performed when the tumour is located in the upper or middle part of the rectum (see Table 1 for definitions). It may also be considered for lower tumours as long as the tumour does not infiltrate the pelvic floor. This may, however, have functional consequences, as will be discussed below (p. 15). In Europe, the percentage of patients operated by anterior resection has increased from 25 up to 50-75 % over the past 30 years⁷. In Sweden, an abdominoperineal excision is generally preferred when the tumour is located within 6 cm from the anal verge¹³. Approximately 30 % of all primary rectal cancers are operated by abdominoperineal excision in Sweden^{5, 13}.

Following the introduction of total mesorectal excision (TME) surgery by Bill Heald in the 1980s, results of treatment improved^{14, 15, 17}. As opposed to blunt dissection, total mesorectal excision surgery implies that dissection is performed in the embryological plane just outside the mesorectal fascia^{14, 20}. Local recurrence rates, however, remained higher after abdominoperineal excision compared with anterior resection^{5, 27-33}. One reason may be that achieving a radical resection is more difficult in lower tumours due the challenging anatomy. Some have proposed that another reason might be that the principles of total mesorectal excision surgery wrongfully have been applied to abdominoperineal excision³⁴. If the TME dissection is carried downwards all the way to the pelvic floor, where the mesorectum is thin, the result may be a non-radical resection if the tumour is located in this region^{28, 35}. To address this problem, extralevator abdominoperineal excision was introduced in 2007³⁶. The extralevator technique closely resembles the original abdominoperineal excision as described by Ernest Miles 100 years earlier²⁵. Dissection in the abdominal phase is stopped before entering the levator plane and the perineal phase of the operation is performed with the patient in the prone position (chest down, back up). Compared with the conventional technique, more tissue is removed with the specimen, including most of the levator muscles, i.e. the pelvic floor³⁷ (Figure 3). The extralevator technique rapidly gained acceptance in Sweden and abroad, without compelling evidence of its safety or superiority³⁷⁻⁴⁵.



Figure 3. Schematic illustration of dissection in conventional and extralevator abdominoperineal excision, as depicted by the black and blue interrupted lines, respectively.

Prytz et al. Int J Colorectal Dis 2014³⁹. Reprinted with permission from the author.

Other surgical procedures

The Hartmann procedure, i.e. resection of the tumour-bearing segment of the bowel with blind closure of the distal stump and formation of a colostomy, may be a good option if an anastomosis is not feasible and the patient is not fit to undergo an abdominoperineal excision. In such cases, the rectal stump may be left in place following the TME dissection or removed during an intersphincteric abdominoperineal excision. The possible benefits of the intersphincteric resection are currently being studied⁴⁶. In early cancers, transanal endoscopic microsurgery may be an option in selected patients⁴⁷, although the oncological results are uncertain.

Open and laparoscopic resection

Laparoscopic surgery is associated with less blood loss, less pain, earlier return of bowel function and shorter hospitalization compared to open surgery and oncological outcomes are similar⁴⁸. Compared to open surgery, laparoscopy may also decrease the risk of subsequent short bowel obstruction due to postoperative adhesions⁴⁹⁻⁵². Locally advanced tumours are generally not cases for laparoscopic resection. Increasingly, robot assisted laparoscopic surgery is becoming part of clinical routine⁵³. There is, however, no evidence that robotic surgery adds any advantage compared to conventional laparoscopy in rectal cancer and in principle, it should only be used within clinical trials.

Treatment in patients with metastatic disease

If the tumour has already spread to other organs at diagnosis, curative treatment may be possible if the metastases are resectable. Resection of limited colorectal metastases to the liver or lung is associated with five-year survival rates ranging from 30 to 50 %^{4, 54}. In cases of peritoneal metastases, without or with very limited distant metastases, cytoreductive surgery and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy (HIPEC) may lead to improved survival in selected patients⁵⁵. The result of this combined treatment is heavily dependent on careful patient selection, which is primarily based on performance status and the extent of intraperitoneal tumour dissemination.

About 20 % of patients present with incurable disease, most frequently due to nonresectable distant metastases. In these cases, treatment is palliative. Radiotherapy may decrease pain and bleeding from the rectal tumour. In the event of bowel obstruction, a deviating colostomy is necessary. In many cases, patients are offered palliative chemotherapy, which may delay disease progression but can be associated with adverse effects⁵⁶. Palliative surgery, i.e. resection of tumours without curative intent, is becoming less common¹³, although it is sometimes indicated to reduce clinical symptoms.

Neoadjuvant treatment

Surgery may be combined with preoperative neoadjuvant therapy. The purpose is to increase the chances of complete tumour clearance at surgery and thus decrease the risk of tumour recurrence in the pelvis, as will be discussed below^{15, 17, 56}. Depending on the clinical stage of the tumour, short-course radiotherapy or chemoradiotherapy is recommended (Table 1 and Figure 4).

Quality of life and morbidity in patients with rectal cancer

	T1-T2	T3a-b < 5 mm invasion	T3c-d > 5 mm invasion	T4a	T4b ¹	N1	N2	MRF+ ²	Lat. Nodes ³	EMVI ⁴
High rectal tumours (10-15 cm)	0	0	5x5	5x5	5x5/ CRT	0	5x5	CRT	CRT	5x5
Mid rectal tumours (5-10 cm)	0	5x5	5x5	5x5	5x5/ CRT	5x5	5x5	CRT	CRT	5x5
Low rectal tumours (0-5 cm)	5x5	5x5	5x5		5x5/ CRT	5x5	5x5	CRT	CRT	5x5

Source: The national treatment guidelines, available at www.cancercentrum.se

Table 1. Algorithm for preoperative treatment. The highest level of treatment is chosen. Example: A low T3 tumour with potential mesorectal fascia involvement should receive chemoradiotherapy (CRT).

¹Short-course radiotherapy (5x5) if the tumour invades an "easily" resectable organ; chemoradiotherapy (CRT) if tumour invasion necessitates more extensive resections. ²Mesorectal fascia involvement (free margin <1 mm).

³Lymph node metastases outside the mesorectal fascia.

⁴Extramural vascular invasion.



Figure 4. Definitions of tumour (*T*), lymph node (*N*) and metastasis (*M*) status in rectal cancer.

Short-course radiotherapy is delivered as five grays for five consecutive days (referred to as 5x5 Gy) followed by surgery within 2-3 days. Chemoradiotherapy involves the administration of a total radiation dose of 46-50.4 grays over a period of three months in combination with chemotherapy and is followed by renewed radiological evaluation. Surgery is planned 6-8 weeks after treatment, although there is a current trend towards a longer delay period. Chemoradiotherapy has the potential to downsize and downstage the tumour which increases the chance of a radical resection in advanced cases. If the patient is not fit for chemoradiotherapy, short course radiotherapy with delayed surgery may be an alternative⁵⁷ but this approach needs further evaluation. The administration of concomitant chemotherapy during chemoradiotherapy makes cells more sensitive to radiation⁵⁸ but offers little protection against the development or progression of distant metastases. In cases of a locally advanced tumour with synchronous resectable metastases, this can be a clinical dilemma.

Although short-course radiotherapy and chemoradiotherapy both reduce the risk of local recurrences, neither has been shown to improve overall survival¹⁷ – except in the Swedish rectal cancer trial⁵⁹ where a survival benefit of short-course radiotherapy was demonstrated. Patients with low tumours are likely to benefit most from radiation and all patients scheduled for abdominoperineal excision are routinely treated with radiotherapy in Sweden.

Adjuvant treatment

Postoperative adjuvant chemotherapy aims to decrease the risk of systemic recurrences^{56, 60}. Evidence for the use of adjuvant chemotherapy is weaker for rectal cancer than for colon cancer and clinical practice varies across Europe. In Sweden it is generally given to patients with a high risk for recurrent disease, i.e. if the pathological examination of the resected specimen reveals lymph node metastases or a combination of two other risk factors for recurrence such as tumour deposits, perineural growth or extramural vascular invasion. Emergency as opposed to elective surgery and peroperative tumour perforation is also generally considered to be indications for adjuvant treatment.

Radiotherapy is associated with acute adverse effects such as diarrhoea, increased bowel frequency and dysuria. The addition of chemotherapy during chemoradiotherapy may exacerbate symptoms^{7, 61}. Long term complications associated with preoperative radiotherapy include bowel enteritis, adhesions, small bowel obstruction and anorectal, sexual and urinary dysfunction, as will be discussed below. Adjuvant chemotherapy is associated with reversible adverse effects as well as irreversible neuropathy⁵⁶.

Follow-up

The aim of follow-up after curative treatment is to detect recurrences or new colorectal tumours in time to allow for a second curative procedure. There is little evidence to support one follow-up regime over another or even the benefit of follow-up at all⁶². The as yet unpublished results of the COLOFOL trial will possibly help decide the optimal follow-up regimen⁶³. In Sweden patients are generally monitored by annual abdominal and chest computed tomography and clinical exam for three years, with the addition of magnetic resonance imaging in selected patients. Colonoscopy is performed after three years and then every five years until the age of about 75. Patients operated with local excision need closer surveillance⁴.

Postoperative complications

Overall, about 35 % of patients experience complications within 30 days after surgery⁵. Complications directly related to the surgical procedure such as bleeding, wound infection, wound dehiscence and anastomotic leaks account for about 24 %¹³. To lessen the consequences of an anastomotic leak, a temporary defunctioning loop-ileostomy is generally recommended following low anterior resection⁶⁴. However, the loop-ileostomy may also cause morbidity, with dehydration, obstruction and parastomal hernia being the most common complications⁶⁵⁻⁶⁷.

An abdominoperineal excision may be complicated by infection or dehiscence of the perineal wound which may necessitate local revision under general anaesthesia. Such complications may result in a delayed wound healing, generally defined as a healing time in excess of one month⁶⁸. Neoadjuvant radiotherapy is considered to be the major risk factor for perineal wound complications^{68, 69, 70}. In addition, studies have indicated an increased risk of complications after extralevator compared with conventional abdominoperineal excision^{43, 71}.

Outcome measures in clinical research

Clinical outcome measures

Clinical studies are concerned with the measurement and interpretation of different kinds of outcomes. Clinical outcome measures generally refer to variables that are readily measurable by health care professionals, often called "objective" variables. They may be collected prospectively or derived retrospectively from medical records, pathology reports or, increasingly from national quality registries⁷².

Local recurrence is an important outcome in rectal cancer⁷³⁻⁷⁵. Local recurrence means a recurrence of the rectal cancer in the pelvis as a result of insufficient clearance of cancer cells by neoadjuvant treatment and/or surgery. A local recurrence is a dreaded condition that is difficult to treat and may lead to severe suffering for the patient⁷⁴. The

frequency of local recurrences has decreased and is now reported to be as low as 5 % in Sweden¹³.

Since local recurrences are uncommon today, studies need to be large if this outcome measure is to be used. A commonly used surrogate variable for local recurrence in rectal cancer research is *circumferential resection margin involvement*. The circumferential resection margin refers to the surgical margin around the mesorectum when total mesorectal excision surgery is performed. An involved circumferential resection margin is usually defined as the presence of tumour cells within 1 mm from the circumferential resection margin. This outcome is strongly associated with local recurrences as well as with the development of distant metastases and decreased survival^{4, 12}.

Patient-reported outcome measures

There has been increasing understanding that clinical measures alone are not sufficient in the follow-up and evaluation of patients with cancer^{76, 77}. For example, a treatment that appears effective in terms of survival or local recurrence may be associated with unacceptable side effects and symptoms. The inclusion of *patient-reported* outcomes in clinical studies may reveal consequences of treatment that would otherwise be invisible. One patient-reported outcome that is considered especially valuable is quality of life⁷⁷⁻⁷⁹.

Quality of life

Quality of life is a broad concept that is not only concerned with matters of health. The term was coined by American national economists in the 1950s, reflecting the realization that quantitative measures of societal development say nothing about how satisfied people are with their lives^{80, 81}. In the context of health care, the term health-related quality of life is often used to stress that it is the impact of health on quality of life that is of interest. Health-related quality of life may be defined as the patient's experience of general health and well-being, symptoms and physical, emotional and social function as a consequence of illness or treatment⁸².

Health-related quality of life is generally measured by way of self-administered questionnaires. Questionnaires may be generic (general), such as SF-36^{83, 84} and EQ-5D⁸⁵, or disease-specific, such as QLQ-C30^{86, 87} which was developed for patients with cancer by the European Organization for Research and Treatment of Cancer (EORTC). The EORTC has also developed cancer-specific questionnaires for use in many different types of cancer, such as QLQ-C38⁸⁸ and the updated version QLQ-C29⁸⁹⁻⁹¹ for colorectal cancer patients, which can be used in combination with QLQ-C30 in clinical studies. Unlike disease-specific questionnaires, which focus on issues that are relevant to patients with a specific disease, generic questionnaires may be used to

compare quality of life between patient groups and healthy people⁷⁹. Interestingly, such comparisons often reveal small differences or even paradoxical results⁸². This is perhaps explained by insufficient sensitivity of the generic questionnaire in some cases, but may also be related to issues like response shift, as discussed below.

Questionnaires are often divided into several subscales or domains, reflecting the multidimensional properties of quality of life. The individual questions of each subscale are often summated into a score. Many questionnaires combine such subscales with global single questions on overall quality of life or general health⁸². Global questions are considered by some to be especially useful as they represent a summation of many factors that are often difficult to quantify⁹²⁻⁹⁴. Within the works of this thesis quality of life has been measured by global single questions on overall as well as health-related quality of life, as discussed in more detail below (p. 31).

Interpretation

As mentioned above, quality of life results are sometimes difficult to interpret. For instance, patients with disabling disease may perceive better quality of life than "healthy" people. This may in part be explained by the fact that for patients, the meaning of quality of life may change over time as internal standards are shifted and concepts like health, happiness or love are redefined in response to their disease. This phenomenon is referred to as response shift^{78, 95, 96}. In addition, quality of life results may be influenced by the way a questionnaire is administered^{97, 98}, the order of questions in the questionnaire, the circumstances surrounding the patient and his or her state of mind at the moment. Questions about symptoms and physical function may be less sensitive to psychosocial, cultural and situational circumstances compared to general questions on quality of life⁸². On the other hand there is often no immediate correlation between symptoms and physical dysfunctions and patient-reported quality of life⁹⁹. For example, as will be discussed below, sexual function is often deteriorated after treatment for rectal cancer, but this is not reflected in a lower quality of life in many studies¹⁰⁰⁻¹⁰². It may of course be that some symptoms and dysfunctions are not very important to patients' quality of life in relation to other aspects of life. Alternatively such findings may be explained by lack of detail or insufficient sensitivity or even validity of the questionnaires used, which will be described in more detail below (p. 12).

Statistical significance and clinical relevance

An important issue in relation to the interpretation of results is the distinction between statistically significant and clinically relevant findings⁷⁷. An observed difference in quality of life between two groups of patients or an observed change in quality of life over time may be statistically significant, but is it clinically relevant? This may be particularly important to consider in relation to large clinical studies where the large sample size may contribute to a statistical significance – also for clinically irrelevant

differences. Notably this is a general phenomenon that applies to all kinds of outcomes, clinical as well as patient-reported; with growing sample size, statistical significance will eventually always be declared. This emphasizes the importance of reporting not only p-values but estimated group differences as well.

Efforts have been made to establish the minimal important difference in relation to many quality of life outcomes. The minimal important difference is defined as the smallest change in quality of life that the patient would identify as important^{103, 104}. The minimal important difference can be established by different methods^{103, 105, 106}. Anchor-based methods aim to determine if a change in quality of life is important to the patient by relating it to an anchor question on changes in symptoms or physical function. For example, when completing a follow-up questionnaire of a prospective study on quality of life, patients could be asked to rate themselves as "much better", "better", "unchanged" or "worse" with regard to symptoms or physical function. The minimal important difference could then be determined as the mean change in a quality of life score among patients rating themselves as "better"¹⁰³. As opposed to anchorbased methods, distribution-based methods build on statistical analyses of data variation. For instance, half a standard deviation has been found to correspond to the minimal important difference across a variety of studies¹⁰⁷. Distribution-based methods allow for the calculation of effect size, which is a standardized measure of change from baseline to post-treatment obtained by dividing the difference in scores between measurements by the standard deviation of the baseline scores. The effect size can be used to determine clinical relevance and to compare results between studies.



On the way to work: early morning mist over Svarttjärn.

Validation of quality of life questionnaires

In this context, validation is the process of evaluating the quality of a questionnaire and investigating whether it is useful and reliable. Table 2 summarizes some of the elements in this process.

Validity	Does the questionnaire measure what it is intended to measure?				
Internal validity	Are results reliable on the basis of the methodology used in the development of the				
	questionnaire?				
External validity	Are results generalizable beyond the particular study population?				
Content validity	Is the questionnaire and the included questions relevant for the purpose?				
Construct validity	Refers to aspects such as <i>floor and ceiling effects</i> , missing data and the relations				
	between items, subscales and the "hidden construct" (i.e. the aspect of quality of life				
	that the subscale aims to measure, see text below).				
Floor and ceiling effects	If a large proportion of respondents have minimum or maximum score on individual				
	items or subscales, this may lead to poor responsiveness and sensitivity.				
Responsiveness	Ability to measure change over time, e.g. disease progression.				
Sensitivity	Ability to detect changes over time or differences between groups.				
Reliability	Are results reproducible on repeated measurement, given that there has been no				
	change between measurements (regarding disease progression, for instance)?				
Discriminative validity (or	Ability to distinguish between clinical groups of patients.				
known-groups validity)					
Face validity	A rather ill-defined term that refers to the overall impression of the questionnaire.				
Face-to-face validity (or	An important step in the development process, where patients sit face-to-face with				
respondent validation)	the researcher and review the questionnaire and the individual questions for				
	acceptability, comprehensibility, relevance, clarity and ambiguity.				

Table 2. Terms related to the validation of quality of life questionnaires.

Many of the terms in Table 2 refer to important aspects of *psychometric* validation. The questionnaires we have used within this thesis were not validated by psychometric methods. Psychometric methods were originally developed in the context of personality, intelligence and educational attainment tests, where the majority of items were so called *indicator* variables, designed to reflect either a level of ability or a state of mind (the "hidden construct"). However, like most health-related quality of life questionnaires, our questionnaire mainly contains questions on symptoms and impairments. These questions are examples of so called *causal* variables: the experience of a specific symptom is believed to *cause* a reduction in quality of life. Whereas indicator variables *reflect* the level of quality of life, quality of life is *affected* by causal variables. Although psychometric methods are frequently used in the validation of quality of life questionnaires, some authors argue that these methods are a less appropriate means to validate a questionnaire with predominantly causal variables. Instead they stress the importance of a rigorous development process⁸².

Treatment-related morbidity

Following treatment for rectal cancer, patients may experience chronic symptoms or functional impairments. This includes sexual, urinary or bowel dysfunction as well as problems related to a permanent colostomy. Chronic perineal symptoms have been reported following extralevator abdominoperineal excision^{108, 109}. Below is a summary of treatment-related morbidity and consequences for patients' quality of life.

Anatomical basis for physical dysfunction

Sexual and urinary dysfunction is mainly the result of damage to pelvic autonomic nervous structures by preoperative radiotherapy or surgery^{7, 110, 111}. The sympathetic innervation may be damaged during dissecting at the pelvic brim or during ligation of the inferior mesenteric artery on the aorta, while parasympathetic nerves may be injured during perineal or lateral pelvic wall dissection. If the superior hypogastric plexus and hypogastric nerves are damaged, this leads to urinary incontinence, ejaculatory dysfunction in men and reduced lubrication in women. Damage to the pelvic splanchnic nerves and the inferior hypogastric plexus results in urinary retention, erectile disorders in men and reduced labial and vaginal swelling in women (Figure 5).



Figure 5. Autonomic innervation of the pelvis.

Keating, J.P. ANZ J Surg 2004¹¹⁰. Reprinted with permission from the author.

Radiotherapy may injure nervous structures directly or increase the risk of surgical nerve damage by making dissection planes unclear. In addition, radiotherapy may damage other tissues and organs¹¹². In men, radiation damage to the seminal vesicles and small blood vessels may lead to ejaculatory and erectile dysfunction, respectively⁷.

¹¹³. Furthermore, radiation damage to the testes may lead to decreased serum testosterone which may contribute to erectile dysfunction¹¹⁴. Many patients operated by anterior resection experience bowel dysfunction as a consequence of the low anastomosis^{115, 116}, which will be discussed in more detail below. Radiation damage to the anal sphincter may contribute to bowel dysfunction in these cases¹¹⁷⁻¹²⁰. A radical resection of the cancer sometimes necessitates partial or complete resection of surrounding organs and distortions of the natural anatomy with risk for functional consequences. In case a stoma is created, stoma related problems may occur^{121, 122}.

Sexual dysfunction

The frequency of sexual dysfunction has been reported to range from 10-35 %¹¹¹, but some studies have reported higher figures^{100, 123, 124}. This may be explained by the fact that sexual dysfunction lacks a standardized definition, which makes comparison between studies difficult¹²⁵. Sexual dysfunction may include ejaculatory and erectile dysfunction, vaginal dryness and dyspareunia as well as decreased sexual activity, desire or satisfaction and other aspects. Radiation therapy is considered a major risk factor for sexual dysfunction in both men and women^{102, 111, 113, 124}. It is often difficult to know if the sexual dysfunction was caused by treatment or if problems were present before treatment¹⁰⁰. Among the cohort of 545 Swedish men and women described in paper IV, 47 % reported a decreased ability to achieve an orgasm after surgery and 74 % of all men reported decreased erectile function following their operation¹²⁶. Sexual dysfunction is more common after abdominoperineal excision compared to anterior resection^{100, 102, 127, 128}. This may be explained by the higher risk of nerve damage associated with abdominoperineal excision, especially during the perineal phase⁷. Sexual function is, however, multifactorial and some dysfunctions may be related to psychosocial factors, e.g. a psychological reaction to the stoma^{100, 110, 129, 130}. While McGlone et al described better outcome after laparoscopy regarding erectile function and all aspects of sexual function in women¹³¹, the laparoscopic technique did not reduce genitourinary problems in the COLOR II trial¹³². Age and perhaps sex influence the way patients perceive their quality of life in relation to a sexual dysfunction¹¹⁰. Younger patients and men seem to be more bothered by their sexual dysfunction^{128, 133,} 134

Urinary dysfunction

Urinary dysfunction following treatment involves voiding difficulties, nocturia and incontinence and seem especially common in women. In comparison with sexual dysfunction reported frequencies are generally lower¹¹¹, but this apparently depends on what is measured and how. Among the patients included in paper IV, 41 % of women used incontinence pads three years after abdominoperineal excision while only 7 % reported being incontinent before surgery. For men, the figures were 10 and 2 %, respectively¹²⁶. Urgency was experienced by 77 % and incontinence by 63 % among

516 female patients operated in Denmark by low anterior resection or abdominoperineal excision about four and a half years earlier¹²³.

Bowel and stoma-related dysfunction

Bowel dysfunction is common following anterior resection with a low anastomosis and may be experienced by as many as 50-90 % of patients^{116, 117, 135, 136}. Symptoms include increased stool frequency, urgency, clustering and incontinence. The combination of these symptoms is referred to as the low anterior resection syndrome (LARS). Symptoms often arise immediately after surgery and may decrease after a few months. While some patients eventually recover almost normal function, others suffer life-long disability¹³⁷. The severity of the low anterior resection syndrome may be investigated by the LARS score¹¹⁵, which was developed by Emmertsen and Laurberg and is based on five questions that are weighted according to their estimated impact on quality of life. Further studies have indicated that the severity of the low anterior resection syndrome is closely associated with the patients' quality of life¹³⁸.

Many studies have examined the impact of a stoma on quality of life^{78, 122, 139-143}. The assumption that a permanent colostomy is associated with lower quality of life compared with anterior resection has been challenged^{144, 145}. Among the patients included in paper III, 90 % were able to live their life to the full and could engage in leisure activities of their choice about four years after abdominoperineal excision¹⁴⁶. Cultural differences may be significant, with poor acceptance of stomas in some parts of the world, where many patients may accept poor bowel function in preference to a stoma⁷. Possibly this is in part related to the availability of stoma therapists and to the cost of stoma appliances.

Patients who receive a permanent colostomy may develop a parastomal hernia, resulting in a bulge around the stoma which may be inconvenient, painful and cause leakage of the appliance. A hernia incidence as high as 30-50 % has been reported ^{121, 122}, although the prevalence of symptomatic parastomal hernias three years after abdominoperineal excision was only 11 % in the national cohort described in paper IV¹⁴⁷. Although stoma patients as a group do not seem to have inferior quality of life compared to patients operated by anterior resection, patients with a dysfunctional stoma, including those who develop a parastomal hernia, may have a risk of a decreased quality of life¹⁴⁸.

Perineal morbidity

Following an abdominoperineal excision, the healing of the perineal wound may be lengthy and distressful and chronic symptoms from the perineum may be common¹⁴⁹. Chronic perineal pain has been reported in as many as half of patients after extralevator abdominoperineal excision^{108, 109}. Walking and sitting disability has also been

reported^{108, 150, 151}. The development of a perineal hernia has been considered a rare complication with an incidence of less than one to a few percent^{68, 152}. However, the incidence may have been underestimated and may be increased following extralevator abdominoperineal excision¹⁵³.

Psychological determinants of quality of life

When interpreting the effect of a treatment on health-related quality of life it should be remembered that quality of life is multifactorial and not only related to somatic morbidity. Two interesting psychological factors are intrusive thoughts and the concept of sense of coherence.

Intrusive thoughts

Intrusive thoughts differ from ordinary thoughts in that they are unwelcome, unintentional, repetitive and hard to fight off. Such thoughts constitute one component of post-traumatic stress disorder^{154, 155}. They also occur in conditions such as depression and obsessive-compulsive disorder as well as in patients with cancer^{156, 157}. Cancer-related intrusive thoughts have been reported to be associated with quality of life in patients with prostate cancer¹⁵⁸. Only a few studies have explored intrusive thoughts in patients with colorectal cancer^{159, 160}. Intrusive thoughts have often been evaluated by the Impact of events scale^{155, 161}, which contains questions on intrusions. Others have performed structured interviews to explore the nature and content of intrusive thoughts in depth¹⁵⁶ or used single global questions relating to the occurrence and severity of intrusions¹⁵⁸. Studies have indicated that intrusive thought may be possible to treat with cognitive¹⁶²⁻¹⁶⁴ as well as pharmacological¹⁶⁰ interventions, as will be discussed in more detail later (p. 40).

Sense of coherence

The concept of sense of coherence (SOC) was developed by Aaron Antonovsky in the seventies¹⁶⁵. Sense of coherence mirrors the extent to which we perceive life as comprehensible, manageable and meaningful¹⁶⁶. It may be regarded as a personality trait or coping disposition. Sense of coherence is evaluated by SOC-29, a validated instrument with 29 questions (see Appendix). A shorter version of the original 29-item scale has also been developed¹⁶⁷. An association between sense of coherence and quality of life has been reported in several studies¹⁶⁸. Some have investigated this association in patients with colorectal cancer^{169, 170}. While Antonovsky viewed sense of coherence as a relatively stable trait, some reports indicate that it may be accessible for intervention¹⁷¹⁻¹⁷³.

AIM

The overall aim of this thesis was to explore treatment outcome in patients with rectal cancer, with specific focus on morbidity and quality of life.

The specific aims were to:

- Design and initiate a prospective study on quality of life and treatment-associated morbidity in patients with rectal cancer (QoLiRECT).
- Explore possible psychological determinants of pretreatment quality of life within the QoLiRECT study.
- Evaluate a new surgical technique for abdominoperineal excision with regard to short-term morbidity and oncological result.
- Investigate the prevalence of chronic perineal symptoms in patients operated by abdominoperineal excision and to explore potential risk factors and association with quality of life.

PATIENTS AND METHODS

General methodological considerations

In research, one should always aim to use the strongest possible study design in relation to the research question. An *interventional* study is generally considered to be of higher evidence value than an *observational* study. The randomized controlled trial is an interventional study and considered the golden standard in clinical research. The randomization aims to minimize the influence of confounding factors on the outcome so that group level estimates have minimal bias. Consequently, observed differences between treatments may be interpreted in terms of causality. The value of randomized controlled trials is sometimes limited by small sample size and selection of patients, which may decrease generalizability of results. Low response rates and participant drop-out (loss to follow-up) may be a concern in interventional as well as in observational studies, as this can introduce bias, which will be discussed below (p. 28-29). The studies included in this thesis are all observational.

Observational studies

Unlike randomized trials, observational studies generally do not allow for assessment of causality but only reveal associations between variables. In a typical *cohort study* one or several exposures are studied in a cohort of patients that are followed over time. The observational period may be prospective, as in the QoLiRECT study (paper I-II) but it may also be retrospective, as in the consecutive case series described in paper III. Furthermore, retrospectively retrieved data may have been prospectively registered as is the case with the national registry data that were analysed within this thesis. Because patients have not been assigned to exposure groups by randomization in observational studies, confounding factors need to be accounted for in the analysis. Even though there is no intervention, data collection itself may affect the behaviour of the study population. For example, patients who are regularly asked about their physical activity may start questioning their life style and perhaps increase their level of exercise. In addition to comparing groups within the study cohort, comparisons can also be made with an external reference population, as was done in paper II. National quality registries greatly facilitate data collection and increase the external validity of cohort studies⁷², as discussed in more detail below (p.27).

As opposed to a prospective cohort study, a *cross-sectional study* is carried out at one time-point. It allows for prevalence estimation in a sample of a population, e.g. the prevalence of chronic perineal symptoms in patients operated by abdominoperineal excision three years earlier as in paper IV – although in this study, questionnaire send-out was in fact not undertaken at a fixed time-point but instead scheduled so that each patient was assessed three years after surgery. Notably the result of a cross-sectional

study is only a snap-shot; if another time frame had been chosen, e.g. perineal symptoms one instead of three years postoperatively, the results may have been different.

Studies and sources of data

This thesis is based on three methodologically different clinical studies (Table 3) as well as a questionnaire review in a sample of the Swedish population to obtain population reference data, as described in paper II.

Paper	Study name	Study design	Patients	Endpoints	Data sources
I- II	QoLiRECT	Prospective, observational multicentre study	1248 Swedish and Danish patients (1085 patients analysed in paper II)	Quality of life, treatment- related morbidity	Questionnaire, SCRCR ¹ , DCCG ² national database, clinical record forms, reference population survey
III	-	Retrospective cohort study	156 patients operated by conventional or extralevator abdominoperineal excision in one institution 2004-2009	Perineal wound complications, short-term oncological outcome	Medical records, SCRCR ¹
IV	APER	Cross- sectional questionnaire survey	Three-year survivors of a national cohort of patients operated by abdominoperineal excision in Sweden 2007-2009	Perineal symptoms, quality of life	Questionnaire, SCRCR ¹ , operation notes

Table 3. Studies included in this thesis. Note that the main endpoint of the APER study¹⁷⁴ was three-year local recurrence rate, as reported elsewhere³⁸. Here, we describe treatment-related morbidity and quality of life in this national cohort. ¹The Swedish ColoRectal Cancer Registry ²The Danish Colorectal Cancer Group

Clinical data

Within the works of this thesis, clinical data were retrieved from the Swedish ColoRectal Cancer Registry^{5, 175} and the national database of the Danish Colorectal Cancer Group¹⁷⁶. As these registries have almost complete coverage of rectal cancer cases, they allow for excellent control of external validity. Medical records and operation notes provided additional clinical data. Two short clinical record forms were used to collect data that were not covered by the registries, as described below (p. 21).

Patient-reported data

Patient-reported data were retrieved by way of study-specific questionnaires. Two main questionnaires were developed, one to be used in the APER study (paper IV) and one to be used in the QoLiRECT study (paper I-II). In addition, questionnaires for the collection of follow-up data in the QoLiRECT study were produced (Figure 6).

The APER study questionnaire included questions on patient demographics, comorbidities, socioeconomic data and detailed exploration of quality of life, symptoms and treatment-associated functional impairments. The QoLiRECT study questionnaire was similar, with the exception that the base-line questionnaire focused on pretreatment functional status and the follow-up questionnaires included questions on functional impairments intended for all patients treated for rectal cancer, not only those operated by abdominoperineal excision.

Included in all questionnaires was the EQ-5D-3L, which is a short generic healthrelated quality of life instrument^{85, 177}. It consists of five questions covering different aspects of health as well as a visual analogue scale where respondents indicate their current health state, as described in more detail below (p. 31). The Sense of Coherence scale (SOC-29, see Appendix), which has been described above, was included in the questionnaire used in the QoLiRECT study (paper I-II).

Questionnaire development

In the development of the study questionnaires we used the methods described by Steineck et al¹⁷⁸⁻¹⁸⁰. Patients with rectal cancer were involved in the process of developing novel questions on functional impairments through semi-structured interviews. These were word by word transcribed and the resulting texts underwent content analysis with a qualitative methodology¹⁸¹. Questions were developed and refined and the content was validated in a multidisciplinary group of professionals, as described elsewhere¹⁸². This process resulted in a questionnaire draft, which also included questions previously used in studies of men with prostate cancer^{178, 183, 184}. The questionnaire draft was reviewed by patients regarding acceptability, relevance, clarity and ambiguity in a process referred to as face-to-face validation (Table 2). This was followed by a second content validation and the process was repeated until no ambiguities remained. The questionnaire was used in a pre-study among survivors of the cohort described in paper III to test the questionnaire as well as the data collection procedure and response frequency¹⁴⁶. In the case of the QoLiRECT questionnaires, this was followed by translation into Danish according to commonly accepted principles^{185,} 186

In order to obtain reference data for the questionnaires, a cross-sectional population survey was conducted among 1078 persons (median age 63 years, range 31-90; 53 %

female) who were randomly selected from the general population through the Swedish Tax Agency. The study protocol is available at www.ssorg.net.

Paper I

This paper describes the design of the prospective QoLiRECT study¹⁸². The aim of this study was to explore treatment-associated morbidity and quality of life in an unselected population of patients with rectal cancer. Patients were included at 16 participating hospitals in Sweden (n=977) and Denmark (n=271). Inclusion took place when the rectal cancer diagnosis had been confirmed by a biopsy, the multidisciplinary team conference had reviewed the case and the patient had been informed about the recommended treatment. There were no exclusion criteria except age below 18 and inability to understand the questionnaire because of language difficulties, cognitive failure or other reasons.

Inclusion started in February 2012 and was terminated in September 2015. The study is running and patients will be followed for five years. A study-specific questionnaire, which has been described above (p. 20), is completed at base-line and at three additional time points during follow-up (Figure 6).



Figure 6. In the QoLiRECT study, patients complete a base-line and three follow-up questionnaires.

Clinical data are retrieved repeatedly during the course of the study from the Swedish ColoRectal Cancer Registry⁵ and the national database of the Danish Colorectal Cancer Group¹⁷⁶. As the registries differ slightly from one other, two short clinical record forms were produced to make up for those differences: one pertaining to the surgical technique of abdominoperineal excision (Sweden) and the other mainly to details of neoadjuvant and adjuvant treatment (Denmark).

Paper II

In this paper, the first results from the QoLiRECT study¹⁸² are reported. This was an analysis of baseline data that aimed to explore psychological and clinical determinants

of pretreatment quality of life. The analysis included 1085 patients scheduled for curative (n=1012) or palliative (n=73) treatment of their newly diagnosed rectal cancer (Figure 7). Median age was 69 (25-100) and 55 % were male.

Data were retrieved from the baseline questionnaire of the QoLiRECT study (Figure 6) and from the Swedish ColoRectal Cancer Registry⁵ and the national database of the Danish Colorectal Cancer Group¹⁷⁶.



Figure 7. Flow chart of patients included in the analysis of pretreatment quality of life.

Before data analysis, it was decided to exclude all patients from any hospital with an inclusion rate less than 20 % in order to avoid an obvious risk of selection bias. As illustrated in Figure 7, this resulted in the exclusion of 32 patients from one hospital.

Variables and statistical analyses were strictly defined in a statistical analysis plan prior to data retrieval from the study database. In addition to the two psychological variables (cancer-related intrusive thoughts and sense of coherence, see p. 16) we decided to include the treatment plan (curative or palliative) as a potential determinant of pretreatment quality of life. An alternative option would have been to include clinical tumour stage. Obviously the treatment plan and clinical tumour stage are strongly associated, which prevents the inclusion of both in a statistical model as this would infer problems of collinearity. The decision to include the treatment plan instead of tumour stage seemed justified since results probably mirror a psychological reaction to the treatment plan rather than the clinical tumour stage *per se*. The important issue was to adjust for the impact of the clinical situation in the analysis of other potential determinants of quality of life.

This analysis was concerned with pretreatment data only. Thus, regarding the treatment plan, this was literally an intention-to-treat analysis. To take into consideration the treatment that was eventually received was beyond the scope of this analysis.

Paper III

This paper reports the results of a retrospective study that aimed to evaluate short-term clinical outcome of a new surgical technique for abdominoperineal excision. Patients operated by abdominoperineal excision because of a primary rectal cancer at Sahlgrenska University Hospital/Östra between 2004 and 2009 were identified by search of the operation planning software (Operätt), the hospital administrative system and the Swedish ColoRectal Cancer Registry. Patients with previous rectal surgery (local excision by transanal endoscopic microsurgery in most cases) or palliative treatment were excluded, as the inclusion of these patients in the analysis of oncological outcome would be misleading. Seventy-nine cases of conventional abdominoperineal excision and 79 cases of extralevator abdominoperineal excision were included in the analysis. Median age was 68 (35-89) and 63 % of patients were male. 82 % were ASA 1-2 and pathological tumour stage was pT I-II in 30 % of patients.



Figure 8. Following its introduction in the beginning of 2007, the extralevator technique was employed for all cases of abdominoperineal excision at Sahlgrenska University Hospital/Östra for the remainder of the study period.

Medical records and operation notes were scrutinized for data regarding operative technique and perineal wound infection, wound revision, wound healing and other clinical data. Additional data were retrieved from the Swedish ColoRectal Cancer Registry⁵.

Groups were compared by the chi-square test for categorical data and non-parametric methods (Mann-Whitney) for continuous data.

Paper IV

In this paper, aspects on treatment-related morbidity and quality of life three years after surgery are reported in a national cohort of patients operated by abdominoperineal excision between 2007 and 2009. Oncological results in this cohort have been reported previously^{38, 39}. Patients were identified through the Swedish ColoRectal Cancer Registry⁵. The cohort was cross-checked with the Swedish Population Register in order

to avoid misplaced contacts with patients who had died during the intervening period. An introductory letter was sent to the patients followed by a phone call. Eligible patients who consented to take part in the quality of life part of the study received a questionnaire by mail and returned it to the study secretariat by way of a prepaid envelope. Questionnaire send-out was followed two weeks later by a reminder/thank you note in the form of a postcard. The development and content of the study-specific questionnaire was described above (p. 20). Clinical data were retrieved from the Swedish ColoRectal Cancer Registry⁵ and included patient demographics, neoadjuvant treatment, distance from the distal tumour border to the anal verge, American Society of Anesthesiologists (ASA) physical status classification and pathological tumour Whether patients were operated by conventional or extralevator stage. abdominoperineal excision was determined from operation notes together with details of perineal dissection and reconstruction, as the registry does not include this information. Notably, operation notes did not reveal which technique had been used in a fairly large proportion of patients. In this study, data were thus retrieved from three different sources: a questionnaire, a national registry and operation notes.

Of the 1319 patients of the original cohort, 545 patients (60 % male) with a median age of 66 at the time of surgery were included in the quality of life analysis (Figure 9).



Figure 9. Flow chart of patents included in the cross-sectional questionnaire survey.
Prior to analysis, a detailed analysis plan was developed. One aim was to investigate the frequency of chronic perineal symptoms and another was to identify patients with pronounced symptoms and to explore what they had in common. Six questions were analysed in relation to perineal symptoms (Table 4).

Have you had pain between the buttocks in the past month?
Have you had difficulties to sit in the past month?
Have you had loss of sensation/numbness in the buttocks in the past month?
Have you experienced tension in the buttocks in the past month?
Have you experienced a tingling/stinging sensation in the buttocks in the past month?
Have you experienced cramps/urgency that you perceived came from the previous location
of your rectum in the past month?

Table 4. Questions on perineal symptoms.Response options: Not at all/a little/quite a bit/very much.

Pronounced or "severe" symptoms were defined by response options *quite a bit* or *very much*. In turn, *severe perineal morbidity* was defined as the experienced of at least one symptom of severe degree. Delayed healing and surgical technique were identified as the exploratory variables of interest. Age, sex, preoperative radiotherapy and distance from the distal tumour border to the anal verge were considered relevant confounders. The intention was to investigate the association of these factors with the compound outcome *severe perineal morbidity* by regression analysis and to explore the association of chronic perineal symptoms with health-related quality of life. Additional aims were to evaluate the patients' recollection of the perineal wound healing after the index operation, and to investigate the potential impact of different reconstruction techniques on chronic symptoms in patients operated by extralevator abdominoperineal excision.

Methodological aspects

Comparability

In observational studies where patients are not randomized between groups, it is important to consider any confounding factors that may influence the outcome. Examples of such confounding factors are age, sex, comorbidity, lifestyle and socioeconomic factors as well as disease characteristics and treatment-related variables. All these factors may partly explain observed differences between groups, e.g. regarding surgical complications or quality of life.

In paper III, the comparability of groups was evaluated by comparison of baseline characteristics and potential confounding was handled by performing a number of prespecified subgroup analyses, as will be described below (p. 35 and 37). Although

cautious conclusions may be drawn from such methods, adjusting for confounding factors by regression analysis is more flexible and may strengthen the evidence. This approach was taken in paper II and IV, where a wide range of potential confounding factors that could influence patients' perception of quality of life and the experience of chronic perineal symptoms, respectively, were considered.

Comparing conventional and extralevator abdominoperineal excision with regard to oncological outcome can be challenging in a non-randomized setting. If the choice of surgical technique is dependent on tumour stage, this would obviously make comparisons difficult. Furthermore, as a result of differing tumour stage other clinical differences would be likely to exist as well. It is important to know that following the introduction of extralevator abdominoperineal excision in the beginning of 2007, the new technique was perceived to be recommended as a replacement for the conventional technique for all cases of abdominoperineal excision³⁴. The decision to perform an extralevator abdominoperineal excision was more a question of hospital policy or the surgeons own conviction than of tumour stage in the initial years following the introduction of the technique.

The study reported in paper III was not only a comparison of surgical techniques, but also in a sense a comparison of two different time periods (Figure 8). This could introduce bias, as clinical practise may change over time. However, in comparison to a much cited study on the same subject⁴³ the time frame was short, both types of operations were performed largely by the same surgeons and cases were consecutive. The finding that chemoradiotherapy was more common in the extralevator group, i.e. during the latter part of the study, may mirror a shift in clinical practice rather than a change in tumour stage over time. To our knowledge, referral patterns in the region did not change during the study period. Still, as chemoradiation has the potential to downstage tumours, the uneven distribution of chemoradiotherapy between conventional and extralevator abdominoperineal excision is a potential source of bias in this study. In the evaluation of comparability between groups, analysis of clinical instead of pathological T-stage may have been more conclusive but as pretreatment staging during the first half of the study did not include magnetic resonance imaging or endorectal ultrasound for most patients, clinical T-stage would have been unreliable in this setting. According to the pathology report the only significant tumour-related difference between patients operated by conventional and extralevator abdominoperineal excision was the number of retrieved lymph nodes (but not the lymph node ratio). Distance from the distal tumour border to the anal verge as determined by preoperative rectoscopy was no different between groups. Interestingly we found a small number of patients with mid-rectal tumours in the cohort. This may seem odd, as abdominoperineal excision is generally not considered for tumours located more than 6 cm from the anal verge. However, sphincter-sparing surgery may have been avoided in these patients due to poor sphincter function or other reasons.

External validity

External validity refers to whether results are generalizable beyond the study group and apply to the entire population in question. For instance, is the frequency of chronic perineal symptoms reported in paper IV generalizable to all three-year survivors following abdominoperineal excision for rectal cancer in Sweden? The assessment of external validity of our results was greatly facilitated by the national quality registries in Sweden and Denmark that cover 99 and 95 % of all rectal cancer cases, respectively^{175, 187}. This allowed for comparison of clinical and demographic data between included and non-included patients and of responders and non-responders to the study questionnaires, as will be discussed below. The external validity of results may also be increased by the fact that patients were not excluded from the QoLiRECT study (paper I-II) based on tumour or treatment characteristics, as is often the case in clinical studies.

In the analysis of pretreatment quality of life in an unselected population of patients with rectal cancer (paper II), non-included patients were one year older (median age), less healthy according to the ASA physical status classification and had a higher clinical T and M stage. Clinical N stage was not included in the Danish registry, resulting in a high number of missing values among non-included patients, which makes this variable less informative. There were fewer women among non-included and included patients affect the generalizability of results is not immediately apparent. Intrusive thoughts may be more common among non-included patients as they may be more burdened by disease, but how this would affect the predictive value of intrusive thoughts and sense of coherence on pretreatment quality of life is uncertain. In relation to what was said about clinical N-stage above, it could be mentioned here that the clinical N-stage of included Danish patients was retrieved by use of a clinical record form as described on p. 21.

In the cross-sectional questionnaire survey among patients operated by abdominoperineal excision (paper IV), non-included patients were five years older (median age), less healthy according to the ASA physical status classification, received less preoperative radiotherapy and had a higher frequency of circumferential resection margin involvement than included patients. Again, the implication of these differences for the prevalence of chronic perineal symptoms may not be obvious, but the data give no clear reason to suspect a difference between non-included and included patients. Thus, with reference to the question at the beginning of this section, this analysis may give a fair estimate of the frequency of perineal symptoms in the total population of three-year survivors.

Inclusion rate and compliance

A high rate of non-included patients or non-responders to a questionnaire may introduce bias to a study, given that the reason for their non-participation is not completely random. The overall inclusion rate of the QoLiRECT study (paper I-II) was estimated by the retrieval of data on non-included patients from the national registries. As illustrated in Figure 7, participating centres reported 2242 new cases of rectal cancer to the registries during their time of recruitment that were not included in the study. Thus, the overall inclusion rate, which does not take consciously excluded patients in consideration, was 36 %. The number of included patients at participating hospitals ranged from 20 to 237, primarily depending on hospital size and differing inclusion periods (some hospitals joined the study later than others) but also on differing inclusion rates. To minimize the number of missed patients and increase the inclusion rate, the inclusion process at participating hospitals was continually supported and monitored. The response rate to the baseline questionnaire among the 1216 patients eligible for analysis in paper II was 89 % (Figure 7). This means that 131 patients never returned the questionnaire that was sent to them by mail a few days after inclusion, preceded by a phone call.

The percentage of patients scheduled for palliative treatment included in paper II was 7 %, which is lower than the reported rate of palliative treatment in Sweden of about 20%¹³. This was not unexpected but still disappointing, as efforts were made to specifically include these patients into the QoLiRECT study. Part of the explanation may be a reluctance in some surgeons and/or nurses to inform patients who were not scheduled for curative treatment about a five year prospective study - although in our experience many of these patients appreciated our interest in their situation and were encouraged by the fact that we included them in a study with the intent to stay in touch for five years. Importantly, however, the classification of patients as curative or palliative was done prospectively at the time of inclusion into the study. As some patients scheduled for curative treatment may not have been operated, the number of missed palliative patients may actually not be as large as it looks. A lower inclusion rate among palliative patients would possibly introduce a selection bias, as it may be suspected that it is the most severely ill or emotionally affected patients who would be excluded. This would lead to an overestimation of quality of life among palliative patients, and in that way the potential bias is conservative.

In the cross-sectional survey (paper IV), the questionnaire was completed by 60 % of all patients operated by abdominoperineal excision in Sweden 2007-2009, patients who had died not included (Figure 9). Considering that the study was conducted three years after surgery, this inclusion rate seems acceptable. As opposed to the inclusion rate, which is in this case is influenced by the rate of non-eligible or unreachable patients, the response rate to the questionnaire among those who received it was 91 %.

To increase response rates to postal questionnaires a strategy involving repeated contacts by mail and telephone has been recommended¹⁸⁸. The routine that we used for the send-out of questionnaire was described above (p. 24) and involved such repeated contacts. This routine has been used in previous studies with similar response rates^{134, 146, 158, 178}. It is also used in the follow-up of patients within the QoLiRECT-study (Figure 6). Although loss to follow-up occurs in most longitudinal studies, this routine may enable us to keep the number of drop-outs to a minimum and limit the bias that may be introduced if drop-out is systematic.

Validity of data

In a study where data are collected retrospectively from medical records, results and conclusions partly depend on the quality of the registered information. In the retrospective case series of patients operated by conventional or extralevator abdominoperineal excision (paper III), a perineal wound infection was considered to be present if this was stated in the records during admission or follow-up or if the perineal wound was described in such a way that a wound infection was likely. This process was facilitated by the fact that patients were evaluated for signs of infection by trained nurses during admission and that this information was routinely documented under a specific entry term in the medical record. However, whether the infection was abdominal or perineal was not evident and this information had to be found elsewhere. As discussed below (p. 36), the estimation of perineal wound healing was complicated by the fact that documentation was non-systematic and sometimes absent. A prospective study design would have increased the validity of the data on perineal wound infection and healing. It would also have allowed for the distinction between superficial and deep infections according to established criteria, which was not possible in our retrospective study.

The validity of quality registry data is dependent on correct reporting by administrative staff at individual hospitals and correct registration into the registry database. The internal validity of the Swedish ColoRectal Cancer Registry has been reported to be good¹⁸⁹. As already mentioned, the external validity of both the Swedish and Danish national registries is excellent because of their high coverage^{175, 189}. The Swedish ColoRectal Cancer Registry is continuously linked to the Swedish Cancer Registry and the Causes of Death Registry to ensure that no cases have been missed^{175, 189}. It should be mentioned that the Danish registry only includes patients diagnosed and treated in surgical departments, which means that palliative patients are not included. Notably coverage in Sweden can never be 100 %, as cases diagnosed at autopsy are reported to the Swedish Cancer Registry but not to the Swedish ColoRectal Cancer Registry.

The validity of quality of life data is related to the validity of the questions and questionnaires with which data were retrieved, as has been discussed above (p. 12). It

is also affected by the pattern and frequency of missing data, e.g. questions left unanswered in an otherwise filled-out and returned questionnaire. As has already been discussed in the context of inclusion rate and compliance, data missing in a systematic fashion may introduce bias whereas data missing at random is less of a problem⁸². Thus, results may be biased if a particular question is associated with a low response frequency. Efforts should be made to identify problematic questions already during questionnaire development and validation, so that they may be rephrased and refined to increase acceptability, as discussed above (p. 12 and 20). There are many ways to handle missing data statistically¹⁹⁰. In the calculation of the SOC-29 total sum score (paper II) an imputation method was used as described in the paper. Otherwise, as missing values were generally unusual and appeared to be random, frequencies were reported but not handled statistically in the analyses.

Statistical considerations

Prespecification and multiplicity

To ensure a high scientific credibility it is important to prespecify variables and analysis methods prior to data retrieval¹⁹⁰ and to avoid a "fishing expedition" in search of statistically significant results. Prior to any data analyses within this thesis detailed analysis plans were developed as described in detail above (p. 22 and 24-25). The analysis plans were adhered to with few exceptions, one of which was the estimation of local recurrence rate in paper III. In this way the number of analyses was kept to a minimum. The testing of several hypotheses within a single study may raise concern about inflation of the familywise error rate (the risk of incorrectly rejecting at least one null hypothesis). As the aims of paper II and IV may be characterized as exploratory and hypothesis-generating, and as the number of analyses in paper III was reasonably low, a less conservative approach was taken within the works of this thesis and no correction for multiplicity was performed.

Sample size

At the planning stage of a clinical study the number of subjects required to reach a sufficient statistical power (the chance of rejecting the null hypothesis when the alternative hypothesis is true) needs to be determined. Depending on the objective and outcome measures of the study, the sample size calculation requires pre-specification of values for a set of parameters. If, for instance, the aim is to test a difference between two incidence rates, two parameters need to be specified: the expected incidence in the control group and the difference between groups that we would not like to miss provided that the alternative hypothesis is true. In exploratory studies in particular, assumptions regarding the incidence of the outcome of interest may often be uncertain. Furthermore, the pre-specified difference between groups under the alternative hypothesis should be clinically relevant, as discussed above (p. 10-11). The minimal important difference may, however, be unknown or difficult to estimate. Nevertheless,

we made an attempt to formulate a sample size calculation in paper I that was based on our knowledge of the incidence of rectal cancer, the expected distribution among clinically relevant groups and the desired time frame of the study.

Quality of life

Quality of life was assessed in this thesis by global single questions on overall and health-related quality of life. The question on overall quality of life was phrased "*How would you describe your quality of life during the past month?*" with a 7-point Likert scale response format anchored by 0 ("*No quality of life*") and 6 ("*Best possible quality of life*"). Health-related quality of life was measured by the EQ-5D-3L visual analogue scale, a vertical thermometer-like scale anchored by 0 (worst imaginable health state) and 100 (best imaginable health state)⁸⁵. While overall quality of life is a broad term that includes many aspects of quality of life in addition to health, health-related quality of life, as this variable was evaluated by a single question (the EQ-5D-3L visual analogue scale) and therefore represents a summation of many factors. As the EQ-5D-3L visual analogue scale requests patients to indicate their current health state, we might just as well have used the term health status.

RESULTS AND COMMENTS

Main results

Paper I

This paper described the protocol of a large, prospective, multicenter study on quality of life and morbidity in patients with rectal cancer (QoLiRECT)¹⁸² and the development of the study questionnaire. No results were reported.

Paper II

Among patients included in the QoLiRECT study, pretreatment quality of life was negatively affected by intrusive thoughts (odds ratio 0.3, 95 % confidence interval 0.2-0.5) and a low sense of coherence (odds ratio 0.4, 95 % confidence interval 0.4-0.5) regardless of the clinical setting (curative or palliative intent of treatment). Eighty-three percent of included patients experienced intrusive thoughts about the rectal cancer, with no significant difference between curative and palliative patients. The higher the frequency and perceived intrusiveness of these thoughts, the greater was the impact on quality of life. Patients facing palliative treatment had lower overall quality of life (median 53 versus 80 on the EQ-5D-3L visual analogue scale⁸⁵, p <0.001) compared to those scheduled for curative treatment. Ninety-seven percent of patients planned for curative treatment considered themselves well informed about their diagnosis and treatment plan versus 85% of patients planned for palliative treatment (p<0.001).

Paper III

In this retrospective case series in one institution, the incidence of postoperative perineal wound infection was high after abdominoperineal excision and higher following extralevator than conventional abdominoperineal excision (Table 5). The number of patients who required revision of the perineal wound increased with the extralevator technique (Table 5). The perineal wound healing process exceeded one month in the majority of patients (median 40 days, range 12-400) with no significant difference between groups. The proportion of patients with involved circumferential resection margins did not differ significantly (Table 5).

	Conventional abdominoperineal excision, n=79	Extralevator abdominoperineal excision, n=79	P-value
Perineal wound infection	28 %	46 %	< 0.05
Perineal wound revision	8 %	22 %	< 0.05
Length of hospital stay	11 days	12 days	< 0.05
(median)			
Circumferential resection	20 %	17 %	n.s.
margin involvement			

Table 5. Perineal wound complications increased following the introduction of extralevator abdominoperineal excision, but oncological results were no better.

Paper IV

In this cross-sectional questionnaire survey in a national cohort of patients operated by abdominoperineal excision three years earlier, 50 % of patients experienced chronic perineal symptoms that included pain, sitting disability, tension, tingling or numbness between the buttocks and perineal cramps or a sense of urgency to defecate. A quarter of all patients experienced pronounced symptoms. Symptoms were more common in women (58 % vs 44 %, p=0.001). Surgical technique (conventional versus extralevator abdominoperineal excision) and preoperative radiotherapy were not associated with the occurrence or degree of perineal symptoms. Overall 25 % of the patients had a delayed (> 1 month) perineal wound healing after surgery. The risk of a delayed wound healing was increased after extralevator abdominoperineal excision (relative risk 3.5, 95 % confidence interval 1.5-8.2). A delayed perineal wound healing emerged as a risk factor for pronounced perineal symptoms (relative risk 1.6, 95 % confidence interval 1.1-2.1). In patients operated by extralevator abdominoperineal excision the use of mesh reconstruction, as opposed to plain suturing or the use of a myocutaneous flap, was associated with a decreased risk of pronounced perineal symptoms. Pronounced perineal symptoms were associated with a lower global health-related quality of life (median 75 versus 83 points on the EQ-5D-3L visual analogue scale⁸⁵, p < 0.001).

Comments and discussion

Quality of life

Determinants of quality of life in patients with colorectal cancer have been explored in several studies¹⁹¹⁻¹⁹⁴, but only a few have investigated the role of psychological variables^{169, 170, 195}. To our knowledge, there are no previous studies on the impact of psychological variables on quality of life in patients with rectal cancer only. In our analysis, intrusive thoughts and sense of coherence both turned out to be strong and

independent predictors of pretreatment quality of life (paper II). Notably, intrusive thoughts were more strongly associated with *global* than *health-related* quality of life. As discussed above (p.31), health-related quality of life in this study was equivalent to health status. In most people's minds health status probably refers to physical health. As intrusive thoughts are likely to affect a person's psychological wellbeing rather than physical health, the differing strengths of association seem plausible. Interestingly, the predictive ability of pretreatment quality of life on survival has been investigated in patients with primary rectal cancer in one small prospective study¹⁹⁶, which found that some dimensions of quality of life, together with age, predicted one-year survival with an accuracy of 76.8 %.

In paper IV, the impact of chronic perineal symptoms on quality of life was investigated among patients operated by abdominoperineal excision three years earlier. The association of perineal symptoms with quality of life has not been reported before. We found a statistically significant association of pronounced chronic perineal symptoms with health-related quality of life. However, the difference in quality of life between patients with and without pronounced perineal symptoms was smaller than the reported minimal important difference of the EQ-5D-3L visual analogue scale, which is estimated to be about 10 units¹⁹⁷. Regardless of the magnitude of the effect, the fact that the experience of chronic perineal symptoms was at all mirrored by the EQ-5D-3L visual analogue scale is interesting and should lead to further investigations.

Intrusive thoughts

The high prevalence of intrusive thoughts among patients with a newly diagnosed rectal cancer (paper II) is comparable to the findings of Thorsteinsdottir et al, who reported a prevalence of 73 % in 883 men with prostate cancer before surgery¹⁵⁸. As a reference the prevalence was 63% in the population of 1078 "healthy" Swedish individuals described in paper II. Importantly, the same questions were used in these three studies. The prevalence of intrusive thoughts among patients with breast cancer has been reported to be lower¹⁹⁸, but because of the use of different instruments with different recollection period and wording of questions, detailed comparisons are difficult. In our study, the experience of intrusive thoughts about the rectal cancer was found to be a strong predictor of pretreatment quality of life. As will be discussed below, intrusive thoughts may be accessible for simple clinical interventions, which may be one way to improve quality of life among these patients.

Sense of coherence

We demonstrated a significant and independent association between patients' sense of coherence and pretreatment quality of life (paper II). The mean value of sense of coherence in the study cohort was 158 (standard deviation 20, range 85-203) as

estimated by the SOC-29 scale. There was a difference between curative and palliative patients by 6 units, which was statistically significant but hardly clinically relevant. In the reference population of Swedish individuals mentioned above the SOC-29 mean value was 151 (standard deviation 22, range 68-197). A systematic review reported a range of mean SOC-29 values from 101 to 164 among 124 studies of diverse patient populations worldwide¹⁶⁷. Although considered to be relatively stable during adulthood, sense of coherence is reported to increase with age, which may lower comparability between studies. Furthermore there are no general instructions on how to handle missing data, so this may be a source of variation as well.

Perineal wound infection

The rate of perineal wound complications after any type of abdominoperineal excision seems to be high^{68, 70, 199, 200}. An increased rate has been reported following extralevator APE ^{43, 71}. This was supported by a recent meta-analysis²⁰¹ but questioned by another, which found that radiotherapy rather than the extralevator technique itself may account for the differences⁶⁸. There was no difference in the rate of preoperative radiotherapy between surgical techniques in our retrospective case series (paper III) which would suggest that surgical technique was indeed responsible for the increased infection rate following extralevator abdominoperineal excision. However, when patients treated with a combination of chemotherapy and radiotherapy were excluded, the difference between groups was not statistically significant (p=0.092). As chemotherapy increases the sensitivity of cells to radiotherapy⁵⁸ and as radiation is delivered at a higher dose and during a longer period of time in chemoradiotherapy compared to short-course radiotherapy – both of which may theoretically increase the risk of postoperative wound complications – the differing rates of chemoradiotherapy between groups may have biased the results on the perineal infection rate in our study.

The perineal infection rates were somewhat higher in our study compared to other reported data^{68, 70, 199, 200}. This may be explained by the fact that this was a primary endpoint in our study and great efforts were made to identify all cases of infection, as discussed above (p. 29). The fact that neither myocutaneous flap reconstruction nor mesh reconstruction was used to close the perineal wound in any of the patients may also have contributed. However, the use of myocutaneous flap reconstruction has been associated with high rates of perineal wound complications as well⁴³. As mentioned above (p. 29), we did not differentiate between superficial and deep infections. However, as most deep infections would require surgical wound revision the frequency of wound revisions should represent a fair estimate. The percentage of patients requiring a perineal wound revision, respectively. As a reference, Bullard et al reported a rate of wound revisions of 7 % among 160 consecutive patients operated by conventional abdominoperineal excision between 1988 and 2002⁷⁰.

Perineal wound healing

In our retrospective case series (paper III), the median healing time was 40 days (mean 59) with no difference between conventional and extralevator abdominoperineal excision. This figure seems high but Bullard et al reported an even longer healing time following conventional abdominoperineal excision in another retrospective analysis (mean 3.8 months, although the median value may have been more informative)⁷⁰. Sixty-two % of all patients in our study (paper III) had a delayed perineal healing, defined as a healing time in excess of one month. Among the patients included in the cross-sectional questionnaire survey (paper IV), a delayed healing was experienced by 25 % with a very pronounced difference between conventional (9 %) and extralevator (22 %) abdominoperineal excision. The differences between studies III and IV regarding the frequency of a delayed healing is possibly explained by differing study designs and methodology. It is probable that the wound healing time was underestimated in paper III, as we did not have access to medical records of primary care facilities, to which many patients were referred for wound care after the initial follow-up visit(s).

Surgical technique was not associated with a delayed healing in paper III and neither was radiotherapy in paper IV. The explanation in both cases may be a lack of power to detect significant differences regarding this secondary outcome, or methodological problems in determining the correct healing time in a non-prospective setting as discussed above.

Perineal wound reconstruction

The perineal defect following abdominoperineal excision may be closed by plain suturing or reconstructed by the use of a biological mesh or a myocutaneous flap^{150, 202-205}. All patients in the retrospective case series (paper III) were handled with plain suturing. This means that the recommendations³⁶ to reconstruct the perineal wound by way of myocutaneous flaps – preferably with the aid of plastic surgeons – were not adhered to, which may or may not have contributed to a higher wound complication rate, as discussed above. Myocutaneous flap reconstruction was carried out in some patients at Sahlgrenska University/Östra during the study period, but the technique was reserved for cases of local recurrence, which were excluded from this study as they would have interfered with the analysis of short-term oncological results as already mentioned (p. 23).

Among the 545 patients included in paper IV, the perineal defect was closed by plain suturing in 78 % of cases. All patients operated by conventional abdominoperineal excision were sutured, while mesh and flap reconstruction was used in 25 and 21 % of patients operated by extralevator abdominoperineal excision, respectively. Mesh reconstruction decreased the rate of perineal wound complications in a recent meta-

analysis⁶⁸. Interestingly, we also found mesh reconstruction to be associated with favourable outcome with regard to chronic perineal symptoms.

Circumferential resection margin involvement

advantage of extralevator compared The oncological to conventional abdominoperineal excision has been debated in recent years^{37-45, 199-201, 206-208}. At least six meta-analyses have compared the rate of an involved circumferential resection margin following the respective techniques. Three of them reported no significant differences^{40, 206, 207}, while three favored extralevator abdominoperineal excision ^{199, 201}, ²⁰⁸. No advantage of the extralevator technique regarding circumferential resection margin involvement was found in the large, registry-based APER study³⁹. In our retrospective case series (paper III) the frequency of an involved circumferential resection margin following conventional abdominoperineal excision was 20 %, which is comparable to results from another single-centre retrospective series²⁰⁹. The extralevator technique was associated with an involvement rate of 17 % in our study, which is similar to the rate reported by West et al⁴³. Keeping the limitations of our retrospective case series in mind (see p. 26), our data seem plausible and do not support an oncological advantage of the extralevator technique (Table 5).

Extralevator abdominoperineal excision is not likely to be of any advantage in cases where the distal tumour border is located above the region of the anorectal junction. As discussed in paper III, a subgroup analysis of tumours within 4 cm from the anal verge was performed, excluding roughly half of the patients, which did not change the results regarding circumferential resection margin involvement.

It has been suggested that there is an increased risk of circumferential resection margin involvement in anterior tumours^{209, 210}. This may be related to a more difficult dissection plane in anterior tumours, as well as to the fact that tumours located above the peritoneal reflection lack a mesorectal envelope anteriorly so that any T4 tumour will have an involved circumferential resection margin. However, data regarding this aspect of tumour location was not available to us for most patients, as it is not included in the registry, and was left out of the analysis.

Chronic perineal symptoms

Before our investigation the prevalence of chronic perineal symptoms following abdominoperineal excision has been largely unknown. One symptom that has been reported is perineal pain, presumably because it is covered by the frequently used quality of life questionnaires developed for colorectal cancer by the European Organization for Research and Treatment of Cancer (EORTC)^{86, 90, 91}. Chronic perineal pain was reported in 51 % of patients after extralevator abdominoperineal excision versus 6 % after conventional abdominoperineal excision in a prospective randomized

study¹⁰⁹. One study found chronic perineal pain in half of all patients two years after extralevator abdominoperineal excision¹⁰⁸ while another indicated that patients may experience difficulties to sit because of pain following extralevator abdominoperineal excision with myocutaneous flap reconstruction¹⁵¹. All three studies were limited by a small sample size.

We reported prevalence rates of six chronic perineal symptoms among 545 patients operated by abdominoperineal excision three years earlier (paper IV). Half of all patients reported the experience of at least one symptom. Symptoms were more common in women and women were at increased risk of more severe symptoms. This is possibly related to differences in pelvic anatomy between sexes which may affect the way surgery is performed. As an example, when the perineal defect is closed in women it may include or put tension on parts of the vaginal wall in some cases. Furthermore, the vagina and uterus tilt backwards following rectal resection, which may have functional consequences and lead to changed perceptions. Other and so far unrecognized factors may play a role.

While Han et al reported an increased rate of chronic perineal pain following the extralevator technique¹⁰⁹ we found no association between extralevator abdominoperineal excision and our compound outcome measure *severe perineal morbidity*. This needs to be discussed from a methodological point of view. During analysis, extralevator abdominoperineal excision was found to be strongly associated with a delayed healing. This means that the consideration of surgical technique and wound healing together as explanatory variables in relation to perineal morbidity would infer problems of collinearity. Thus, the impact of a delayed healing on perineal morbidity was determined in the adjusted regression analysis, while the impact of surgical technique was analysed in bivariate analysis. Importantly, the result of the bivariate analysis was possibly biased by the fact that women were overrepresented among patients operated by conventional abdominoperineal excision (54 versus 39 %, p<0.05), as female sex was a risk factor for perineal symptoms. In view of these methodological issues, cautious conclusions are advised regarding the association between surgical technique and chronic perineal symptoms in this study.

Errata

The relative risk presented in the abstract of paper IV is slightly incorrect; correct values are presented in Table 7 of paper IV.

In Table 3 of paper IV, the variable *Microscopic radicality* does not refer to circumferential resection margin involvement but to whether or not an R0 resection was achieved. There are two variables related to the radicality of a resection in the Swedish ColoRectal Cancer Registry, *circumferential resection margin in mm* and

microscopically radical. By mistake the wrong variable was presented and Table 3 gives the rates of R2 resections and not of an involved circumferential resection margin. The rates of circumferential resection margin involvement for included, diseased and non-included patients, respectively, were 7.4 %, 27.2 % and 9.6 %, and differences were statistically significant.

In paper IV, mean values were presented for age and BMI in Table 3 and for tumour height in Table 3 and 4. Median values would have been a more appropriate means of presenting the centre of these distributions, as they are skewed.

None of the errors above change the results or conclusions in any way.

GENERAL DISCUSSION AND CLINICAL RELEVANCE

When a person is diagnosed with rectal cancer, there is generally a good chance that treatment will lead to cure and that life subsequently will return to almost normal. However, as has been discussed throughout this thesis, treatment is sometimes associated with impairments and symptoms which may limit patients' ability to live life to the full but may also lead to daily suffering in some patients. To explore such consequences of treatment and investigate how they affect patients' quality of life has been the overall aim of this work.

There are many difficulties associated with the measurement and interpretation of a patient-reported outcome like quality of life, as has been discussed in some detail. On the other hand, the interpretation of "objective", clinical measures is often not as straightforward as it may appear. For instance, selection of patients to treatment will affect almost any clinical outcome. In the evaluation of treatment effects this may be an important source of bias and emphasises the need to assess external validity in clinical studies. Furthermore, many methodological issues apply to clinical and patient-reported outcomes alike, such as the internal validity of measures and the clinical relevance of findings.

Psychological factors as predictors of quality of life

Our finding that psychological factors were stronger predictors of pretreatment quality of life than the clinical situation (curative or palliative) among patients with a newly diagnosed rectal cancer (paper II) is important and has theoretical as well as practical implications. Firstly, the results emphasize the need to consider psychological factors as relevant confounding factors in studies that aim to describe quality of life in patients with rectal cancer, as has already been discussed. Intrusive thoughts and sense of coherence are two such psychological factors, although there may be many others. Secondly and more importantly, the distressful experience of intrusive thoughts about cancer seem to be accessible for intervention by relatively simple measures. One of them is expressive writing, which is a self-administered intervention that lets patients write regularly about their emotions for a limited period of time. A recent metaanalysis found the method to be feasible to use in patients with cancer and concluded that it may be a simple, accessible and inexpensive way to offer the patients relief, although there was no clear evidence of its effects²¹¹. The benefit seems larger in patients with a recently diagnosed cancer¹⁶⁴. This intervention has not been tried in patients with rectal cancer and a randomized study in this patient population is warranted. Patients planned for palliative treatment may benefit most from this intervention, as they were found to have a significantly lower quality of life than patients planned for curative treatment (paper II).

Extralevator abdominoperineal excision

When the results of the retrospective case series (paper III) was published in 2012, it was the first publication to question the superiority of the extralevator technique with regard to the oncological outcome. The findings led to the initiation of the APER study^{38, 39, 174} which to date is one of few national registry-based studies on the topic²¹². The APER study confirmed the results of the retrospective case series³⁹ and subsequently reported a significant increase in three-year local recurrences with the extralevator technique³⁸.

The fact that centres in Sweden and abroad failed to demonstrate the superiority of the extralevator technique, despite the excellent results achieved by Dr Holm and colleagues in a small select cohort of 28 patients³⁶, may be attributable to the way that extralevator abdominoperineal excision was implemented and its use in all tumour stages. Today indications and application of extralevator abdominoperineal excision have changed. A bilateral extralevator dissection is no longer considered necessary in all cases of abdominoperineal excision and the procedure is instead tailored depending on the loco-regional extension of the tumour. The distinction between conventional and extralevator abdominoperineal excision may therefore be less relevant now than it was in the early years following the introduction of the new technique³⁴. Our retrospective case series does raise questions, however, about the way that new methods are implemented in the field of surgery. New techniques have often been employed without proper scientific evidence to support them. One recent example is robotic surgery for colorectal cancer, which has already been mentioned. Conversely, the implementation of laparoscopic surgery has been slow in Sweden despite evidence of its benefits compared to open surgery⁴⁸. Extralevator abdominoperineal excision was introduced in response to a perceived urgent need to improve results in the treatment of low rectal tumours²⁸ which may explain the enthusiasm with which it was implemented in our hospital and all over Sweden. This is illustrated by the fact that in our retrospective case series (paper III), we did not identify one single case of conventional abdominoperineal excision following the introduction of the new technique, as far as could be determined from operation notes: all patients were turned into prone position for the perineal phase and the procedure was described as an extralevator dissection. The way in which the extralevator technique was introduced may have led to an overtreatment of patients with less advanced tumours in the initial years. There is, however, little doubt that the technique contributes to increased quality of surgery when applied on correct indications and to an appropriate extent. Few surgeons would probably consider going back to performing the perineal dissection in the lithotomy position or to apply the conventional dissection technique in a tumour with potential involvement of the pelvic floor.

Perineal wound complications

The high frequency of perineal wound complications following abdominoperineal excision that was demonstrated within the works of this thesis highlights the need for measures aimed to promote an uncomplicated healing process. This need is emphasised by our finding that a delayed wound healing is an independent risk factor for chronic perineal symptoms. A number of changes in perioperative routines have already been introduced in many centres and future studies should evaluate the results. Based on our results, there is probably also a need for better support to patients who suffer a delayed perineal wound healing.

Chronic perineal symptoms

This thesis found that perineal symptoms is a chronic problem for many patients operated by abdominoperineal excision in addition to the more well-described issues of sexual, urinary and stoma dysfunction. The finding that perineal symptoms include not only pain but many other problems as well is novel. Risk factors for chronic symptoms should be further explored in prospective trials. Specifically, the association between reconstruction technique and chronic symptoms should be further investigated. There is definitely a need for increased focus on perineal symptoms in the follow-up of patients after abdominoperineal excision. Furthermore, the risk of chronic perineal symptoms should be discussed with patients preoperatively.

FUTURE PERSPECTIVES

In the coming years, the QoLiRECT study will provide valuable insights into the quality of life and morbidity of patients treated for rectal cancer. One-year follow-up data will be available for analysis in the beginning of 2017 and subsequently, two and five-year data will follow. Our ambition is to identify specific areas of improvement which can then be investigated further in interventional studies and ultimately lead to improvements in patient care.



Sunset over lake Möckeln in Värmland. Photo by Eva Angenete.

CONCLUSIONS

As has been discussed throughout this thesis, treatment of rectal cancer is associated with unwanted side effects, some of which may be avoidable. Whether the aim is to cure or palliate, treatment-associated morbidity and its consequences for patients' quality of life must be considered in relation to available treatment options.

The main conclusions of this thesis are as follows:

- Pretreatment quality of life in patients with a newly diagnosed rectal cancer depends in part on psychological factors, particularly on the experience of intrusive thoughts. Such thoughts may be accessible for intervention by simple clinical measures, which may be one way to improve quality of life in these patients. Furthermore, based on our results psychological factors should be considered as relevant confounders in relation to quality of life in clinical studies.
- Based on our short-term oncological data, extralevator abdominoperineal excision was not associated with improved outcome in the first few years following its introduction. This conclusion was later supported by registry-based, national data. However, this may be attributable to the way that the new technique was implemented and with better patient selection and application, results of today may have improved.
- Perineal wound complications following abdominoperineal excision is a clinical problem in the short as well as in the long term. A delayed perineal wound healing may lead to chronic perineal symptoms in many patients, including not only pain but other symptoms as well. Efforts to decrease perineal wound complications following abdominoperineal excision should be a priority.

SAMMANFATTNING PÅ SVENSKA

Bakgrund

Ändtarmscancer utgör en tredjedel av all kolorektal cancer. I Sverige drabbas ungefär 2000 personer per år, framför allt den äldre delen av befolkningen och något fler män än kvinnor. Om tumören upptäcks i tid kan botande behandling ges. Grunden för behandlingen är en omfattande operation som i drygt två tredjedelar av fallen kombineras med strålbehandling. I utvalda fall ges även cellgifter för att öka effekten av strålningen. Behandlingsresultaten har förbättrats under senare decennier och femårsöverlevnaden är idag över 60 %. Många patienter drabbas dock av funktionspåverkan efter behandlingen, t.ex. försämrad sexuell funktion, blåsfunktion och tarmfunktion. En ny operationsteknik vid lågt sittande tumörer introducerades för ett par år sedan i syfte att minska återfallen i cancer, men det vetenskapliga underlaget var bristfälligt och sårkomplikationerna tycktes öka.

Syftet med avhandlingen var att studera behandlingsresultat och biverkningar efter behandling av ändtarmscancer, med särskilt fokus på patienter som opererats med så kallad ändtarmsamputation. Vi ville också ta reda på vad som påverkar livskvaliteten hos patienter med nyupptäckt ändtarmscancer, med förhoppning om att kunna identifiera behandlingsbara orsaker till sämre livskvalitet och på sikt förbättra omhändertagandet av dessa patienter.

Metod

Delarbete I beskriver uppstarten av en stor studie (QoLiRECT) som totalt har inkluderat 1248 patienter med nyupptäckt ändtarmscancer vid 16 sjukhus i Sverige och Danmark mellan åren 2012 och 2015. Studien pågår fortfarande. Patienterna följs under fem år och besvarar ett frågeformulär om funktionspåverkan, symptom och livskvalitet vid fyra tillfällen. Kliniska data hämtas från kolorektalcancerregistren i Sverige och Danmark.

I delarbete II analyserades data från det första frågeformuläret i QoLiRECT-studien. 1085 patienter inkluderades i analysen av vilka faktorer som påverkar livskvaliteten innan behandlingsstart.

I delarbete III studerades korttidsresultaten efter införandet av en ny typ av ändtarmsamputation, där större delen av bäckenbotten opereras bort tillsammans med tumören för att minska risken för återfall. 158 patienter som opererats vid Östra Sjukhuset i Göteborg 2004-2009 inkluderades i analysen. Kliniska data hämtades från patientjournalerna och kolorektalcancerregistret.

I delarbete IV identifierades samtliga patienter som opererats med ändtarmsamputation i Sverige 2007-2009 genom kolorektalcancerregistret. Tre år efter operationen besvarade 545 patienter ett frågeformulär med frågor om symptom och livskvalitet. Kliniska data hämtades från kolorektalcancerregistret och operationsberättelserna.

Resultat

Delarbete I och II: Hos patienter som nyligen fått sin diagnos men ännu inte påbörjat behandling för sin ändtarmscancer var psykologiska faktorer starkt sammankopplade med upplevelsen av livskvalitet. Det handlade dels om s.k. *påträngande tankar* om cancern, dvs. ofrivilliga och repetitiva tankar som är svåra att slå ifrån sig, och dels om *känsla av sammanhang* (KASAM), som avspeglar i vilken grad man uppfattar livet som begripligt, hanterbart och meningsfullt. Både påträngande tankar och låg KASAM var starkt associerade med sämre livskvalitet. Huruvida patienten planerades för botande eller endast lindrande (palliativ) behandling hade också betydelse för livskvaliteten men inte i lika hög grad.

Delarbete III: Efter införandet av den nya operationsmetoden vid ändtarmsamputation ökade andelen patienter som drabbades av infektion i såret mellan skinkorna från 28 till 46 %. Andelen som fick genomgå ytterligare en eller flera operationer pga sårinfektionen ökade från 8 till 22 %. Vårdtiden blev längre. 62 % av alla patienter hade fortfarande ett oläkt sår mellan skinkorna efter 4 veckor. Den nya tekniken resulterade inte i att fler patienter blev radikalt opererade.

Delarbete IV: Tre år efter ändtarmsamputation var kroniska symptom från området mellan skinkorna vanligt förekommande. Det rörde sig bland annat om smärta, svårigheter att sitta, stramningar och kramper/trängningar. Hälften av alla patienter, och fler kvinnor än män, upplevde ett eller flera symptom. Patienter som haft en fördröjd sårläkning mellan skinkorna efter sin operation hade en ökad risk att drabbas av uttalade besvär. De patienter som upplevde uttalade besvär hade en lägre hälsorelaterad livskvalitet än övriga.

Slutsats

Livskvaliteten före behandlingsstart påverkades i högre grad av psykologiska faktorer såsom t ex påträngande tankar än av den kliniska situationen, d.v.s. om den planerade behandlingen var botande eller endast palliativ (lindrande). Påträngande tankar om cancer har i andra studier visat sig vara möjliga att påverka med enkla metoder, vilket skulle kunna vara ett sätt att förbättra livskvaliteten för patienter med ändtarmscancer. Den nya operationsmetoden vid ändtarmsamputation bör inte användas rutinmässigt utan endast i utvalda fall, när tumörens läge och utbredning kräver det. Det är viktigt att förbygga infektioner och fördröjd läkning av såret mellan skinkorna, eftersom det kan öka risken för kroniska besvär. Sådana besvär var vanligt förekommande efter ändtarmsamputation och omfattade många andra symptom utöver smärta, vilket inte var känt tidigare.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to all friends, colleagues, co-authors and others who have made this work possible. In particular, I would like to thank:

Eva Angenete, for your support, encouragement and endless enthusiasm. Thank you for taking me under your wings and believing in my ability as a researcher. You are simply outstanding and I'm grateful and fortunate to have had you as my supervisor.

Eva Haglind, my co-supervisor, for letting me be part of your extraordinary research group and for your kind, gentle and wise guidance on the journey towards becoming a better scientist. Thank you for your hospitality and generosity and for inspiring me with your integrity and high moral standards.

Elisabeth González, for the tremendous efforts that you have put into the QoLiRECT study and for being such a great person to work with.

Mattias Prytz, for being my good friend and a great travel companion – literally and figuratively – and for your valuable contributions as a co-author.

David Bock, for all your support, statistical guidance and friendship.

Jane Heath, as without you there would be have been no QoLiRECT or APER study and doing research at SSORG would not have been as much fun.

Carina Rosander, **Kira Bröndum** and **Anette Wedin** for everything you have done to keep the studies running. **Carolina Ehrencrona**, for valuable help with the administrative side of the research and for getting my page headers in order at the last minute.

Jacob Rosenberg and **Jakob Burcharth**, for your assistance with the Danish part of the QoLiRECT study and for all those friendly scientific meetings and discussions.

All my other colleagues and friends at SSORG, none mentioned, none forgotten, for all your help, good advice and assistance and for making these years such a precious experience.

All those who have been involved in the recruitment of patients into the QoLiRECT study in Sweden and in Denmark. I am very grateful.

Christina Svärd and **Mattias Block**, head of the surgical and colorectal department at Sahlgrenska University Hospital /Östra, respectively, for giving me the opportunity to do research.

My colleagues at the colorectal department at Sahlgrenska University Hospital/Östra, for your support and patience with my repeated absence from clinical work.

My mother, for your love and for all the times you help us out by taking care of the children; my father, for inspiring me with your endeavour and entrepreneurial mindset; my sister, because you remind me that things can be done differently; my brother, for your consideration and thoughtfulness and for being someone I can talk to about almost everything, including surgery and science; and my parents-in-law, for always being there for our family.

Maximilian, **Milton** and **Julia**, for helping me remember my priorities in all of this and making me live in the present moment.

And most of all **Annika**, my wonderful wife, for all your loving support and for taking care of everything else in our lives when I have been busy doing this. This would definitely not have been possible without you.

This work was supported by grants from the Swedish Research Council, the Swedish Cancer Society, the Swedish Society of Medicine, the Gothenburg Medical Society, the Health & Medical Care Committee of the Regional Executive Board, Region Västra Götaland, Sahlgrenska University Hospital (ALF grants), Anna-Lisa and Bror Björnsson Foundation, Assar Gabrielsson Foundation, Mary von Sydow Foundation, Bengt Ihre Foundation, Ruth and Richard Julin's Foundation and Lion's Cancer Research Foundation of Western Sweden.

REFERENCES

1. Ferlay J, Steliarova-Foucher E, Lortet-Tieulent J, Rosso S, Coebergh JW, Comber H, Forman D, Bray F. Cancer incidence and mortality patterns in Europe: estimates for 40 countries in 2012. *Eur J Cancer* 2013;**49**(6): 1374-1403.

2. Liang PS, Chen TY, Giovannucci E. Cigarette smoking and colorectal cancer incidence and mortality: systematic review and meta-analysis. *Int J Cancer* 2009;**124**(10): 2406-2415.

3. Friedenreich CM, Neilson HK, Lynch BM. State of the epidemiological evidence on physical activity and cancer prevention. *Eur J Cancer* 2010;**46**(14): 2593-2604.

4. Valentini V, Glimelius B, Haustermans K, Marijnen CA, Rodel C, Gambacorta MA, Boelens PG, Aristei C, van de Velde CJ. EURECCA consensus conference highlights about rectal cancer clinical management: the radiation oncologist's expert review. *Radiother Oncol* 2014;**110**(1): 195-198.

5. Pahlman L, Bohe M, Cedermark B, Dahlberg M, Lindmark G, Sjodahl R, Ojerskog B, Damber L, Johansson R. The Swedish rectal cancer registry. *Br J Surg* 2007;**94**(10): 1285-1292.

6. Birgisson H, Talbäck M, Gunnarsson U, Påhlman L, Glimelius B. Improved survival in cancer of the colon and rectum in Sweden. *European Journal of Surgical Oncology* 2005;**31**(8): 845-853.

7. Valentini V, Aristei C, Glimelius B, Minsky B, Beets-Tan R, Borras J, Haustermans K, Maingon P, Overgaard J, Pahlman L. Multidisciplinary rectal cancer management: 2nd european rectal cancer consensus conference (EURECA-CC2). *Radiotherapy and oncology* 2009;**92**(2): 148-163.

8. Bipat S, Glas AS, Slors FJ, Zwinderman AH, Bossuyt PM, Stoker J. Rectal cancer: local staging and assessment of lymph node involvement with endoluminal US, CT, and MR imaging--a meta-analysis. *Radiology* 2004;**232**(3): 773-783.

9. Engelen SM, Beets GL, Beets-Tan RG. Role of preoperative local and distant staging in rectal cancer. *Onkologie* 2007;**30**(3): 141-145.

10. Smith N, Brown G. Preoperative staging of rectal cancer. *Acta Oncol* 2008;**47**(1): 20-31.

11. Beets-Tan RG, Beets GL. Local staging of rectal cancer: a review of imaging. *J Magn Reson Imaging* 2011;**33**(5): 1012-1019.

12. Nagtegaal ID, Quirke P. What is the role for the circumferential margin in the modern treatment of rectal cancer? *J Clin Oncol* 2008;**26**(2): 303-312.

13. Kodeda K, Johansson R, Zar N, Birgisson H, Dahlberg M, Skullman S, Lindmark G, Glimelius B, Pahlman L, Martling A. Time trends, improvements and national auditing of rectal cancer management over an 18-year period. *Colorectal Dis* 2015;**17**(9): O168-179.

14. Heald RJ, Husband EM, Ryall RD. The mesorectum in rectal cancer surgery--the clue to pelvic recurrence? *Br J Surg* 1982;**69**(10): 613-616.

15. Kapiteijn E, Marijnen CA, Nagtegaal ID, Putter H, Steup WH, Wiggers T, Rutten HJ, Pahlman L, Glimelius B, van Krieken JH, Leer JW, van de Velde CJ. Preoperative radiotherapy combined with total mesorectal excision for resectable rectal cancer. *N Engl J Med* 2001;**345**(9): 638-646.

16. Local recurrence rate in a randomised multicentre trial of preoperative radiotherapy compared with operation alone in resectable rectal carcinoma. Swedish Rectal Cancer Trial. *Eur J Surg* 1996;**162**(5): 397-402.

17. van Gijn W, Marijnen CA, Nagtegaal ID, Kranenbarg EM, Putter H, Wiggers T, Rutten HJ, Pahlman L, Glimelius B, van de Velde CJ. Preoperative radiotherapy combined with total mesorectal excision for resectable rectal cancer: 12-year follow-up of the multicentre, randomised controlled TME trial. *Lancet Oncol* 2011;**12**(6): 575-582.

18. Palmer G, Martling A, Cedermark B, Holm T. Preoperative tumour staging with multidisciplinary team assessment improves the outcome in locally advanced primary rectal cancer. *Colorectal Dis* 2011;**13**(12): 1361-1369.

19. Daniels IR, Fisher SE, Heald RJ, Moran BJ. Accurate staging, selective preoperative therapy and optimal surgery improves outcome in rectal cancer: a review of the recent evidence. *Colorectal Dis* 2007;**9**(4): 290-301.

20. MacFarlane JK, Ryall RD, Heald RJ. Mesorectal excision for rectal cancer. *Lancet* 1993;**341**(8843): 457-460.

21. Glimelius B. Multidisciplinary treatment of patients with rectal cancer: Development during the past decades and plans for the future. *Ups J Med Sci* 2012;**117**(2): 225-236.

22. Bokkerink GM, Buijs EF, de Ruijter W, Rosman C, Sietses C, Strobel R, Heisterkamp J, Nagtegaal ID, Bremers AJ, de Wilt JH. Improved quality of care for patients undergoing an abdominoperineal excision for rectal cancer. *Eur J Surg Oncol* 2015;**41**(2): 201-207.

23. Moran BJ, Holm T, Brannagan G, Chave H, Quirke P, West N, Brown G, Glynne-Jones R, Sebag-Montefiore D, Cunningham C, Janjua AZ, Battersby NJ, Crane S, McMeeking A. The English national low rectal cancer development programme: key messages and future perspectives. *Colorectal Dis* 2014;**16**(3): 173-178.

24. Dixon CF, Lichtman AL. Anterior resection for malignant lesions of the upper part of the rectum and lower part of the sigmoid. *Collect Papers Mayo Clinic Mayo Found* 1946;**37**: 100.

25. Miles WE. A method of performing abdomino-perineal excision for carcinoma of the rectum and of the terminal portion of the pelvic colon (1908). *CA: A Cancer Journal for Clinicians* 1971;**21**(6): 361.

26. Perry WB, Connaughton JC. Abdominoperineal resection: how is it done and what are the results? *Clin Colon Rectal Surg* 2007;**20**(3): 213-220.

27. Wibe A, Syse A, Andersen E, Tretli S, Myrvold HE, Søreide O. Oncological outcomes after total mesorectal excision for cure for cancer of the lower rectum: anterior vs. abdominoperineal resection. *Diseases of the Colon & Rectum* 2004;**47**(1): 48-58.

28. Nagtegaal ID, van de Velde CJH, Marijnen CAM, van Krieken JHJM, Quirke P. Low rectal cancer: a call for a change of approach in abdominoperineal resection. *Journal of clinical oncology* 2005;**23**(36): 9257.

29. How P, Shihab O, Tekkis P, Brown G, Quirke P, Heald R, Moran B. A systematic review of cancer related patient outcomes after anterior resection and abdominoperineal excision for rectal cancer in the total mesorectal excision era. *Surg Oncol* 2011;**20**(4): e149-155.

30. Shihab OC, Brown G, Daniels IR, Heald RJ, Quirke P, Moran BJ. Patients with low rectal cancer treated by abdominoperineal excision have worse tumors and higher involved margin rates compared with patients treated by anterior resection. *Dis Colon Rectum* 2010;**53**(1): 53-56.

31. den Dulk M, Putter H, Collette L, Marijnen C, Folkesson J, Bosset J, Rödel C, Bujko K, Påhlman L, van de Velde C. The abdominoperineal resection itself is associated with an adverse outcome: the European experience based on a pooled analysis of five European randomised clinical trials on rectal cancer. *European Journal of Cancer* 2009;**45**(7): 1175-1183.

32. Marr R, Birbeck K, Garvican J, Macklin CP, Tiffin NJ, Parsons WJ, Dixon MF, Mapstone NP, Sebag-Montefiore D, Scott N, Johnston D, Sagar P, Finan P, Quirke P. The modern abdominoperineal excision: the next challenge after total mesorectal excision. *Ann Surg* 2005;**242**(1): 74-82.

33. Haward RA, Morris E, Monson JR, Johnston C, Forman D. The long term survival of rectal cancer patients following abdominoperineal and anterior resection: results of a population-based observational study. *Eur J Surg Oncol* 2005;**31**(1): 22-28.

34. Nicholls J. No more 'standard' abdominoperineal excision. *Colorectal Dis* 2013;**15**(11): 1329-1330.

35. Marr R, Birbeck K, Garvican J, Macklin CP, Tiffin NJ, Parsons WJ, Dixon MF, Mapstone NP, Sebag-Montefiore D, Scott N. The modern abdominoperineal excision: the next challenge after total mesorectal excision. *Ann Surg* 2005;**242**(1): 74.

36. Holm T, Ljung A, Häggmark T, Jurell G, Lagergren J. Extended abdominoperineal resection with gluteus maximus flap reconstruction of the pelvic floor for rectal cancer. *British journal of surgery* 2007;**94**(2): 232-238.

37. West NP, Finan PJ, Anderin C, Lindholm J, Holm T, Quirke P. Evidence of the oncologic superiority of cylindrical abdominoperineal excision for low rectal cancer. *Journal of clinical oncology* 2008;**26**(21): 3517-3522.

38. Prytz M, Angenete E, Bock D, Haglind E. Extralevator Abdominoperineal Excision for Low Rectal Cancer--Extensive Surgery to Be Used With Discretion Based on 3-Year Local Recurrence Results: A Registry-based, Observational National Cohort Study. *Ann Surg* 2016;**263**(3): 516-521.

39. Prytz M, Angenete E, Ekelund J, Haglind E. Extralevator abdominoperineal excision (ELAPE) for rectal cancer-short-term results from the Swedish Colorectal Cancer Registry. Selective use of ELAPE warranted. *Int J Colorectal Dis* 2014;**29**(8): 981-987.

40. Zhou X, Sun T, Xie H, Zhang Y, Zeng H, Fu W. Extralevator abdominoperineal excision for low rectal cancer: a systematic review and metaanalysis of the short-term outcome. *Colorectal Dis* 2015;**17**(6): 474-481.

41. Palmer G, Anderin C, Martling A, Holm T. Local control and survival after extralevator abdominoperineal excision for locally advanced or low rectal cancer. *Colorectal Dis* 2014;**16**(7): 527-532.

42. Ortiz H, Ciga MA, Armendariz P, Kreisler E, Codina-Cazador A, Gomez-Barbadillo J, Garcia-Granero E, Roig JV, Biondo S. Multicentre propensity score-matched analysis of conventional versus extended abdominoperineal excision for low rectal cancer. *Br J Surg* 2014;**101**(7): 874-882.

43. West N, Anderin C, Smith K, Holm T, Quirke P. Multicentre experience with extralevator abdominoperineal excision for low rectal cancer. *British journal of surgery* 2010;**97**(4): 588-599.

44. Martijnse IS, Dudink RL, West NP, Wasowicz D, Nieuwenhuijzen GA, van Lijnschoten I, Martijn H, Lemmens VE, van de Velde CJ, Nagtegaal ID, Quirke P, Rutten HJ. Focus on extralevator perineal dissection in supine position for low rectal cancer has led to better quality of surgery and oncologic outcome. *Ann Surg Oncol* 2012;**19**(3): 786-793.

45. Klein M, Colov E, Gogenur I. Similar long-term overall and diseasefree survival after conventional and extralevator abdominoperineal excision-a nationwide study. *Int J Colorectal Dis* 2016;**31**(7): 1341-1347.

46. Smedh K, Sverrisson I, Chabok A, Nikberg M. Hartmann's procedure vs abdominoperineal resection with intersphincteric dissection in patients with rectal cancer: a randomized multicentre trial (HAPIrect). *BMC Surg* 2016;**16**(1): 43.

47. Tytherleigh MG, Warren BF, Mortensen NJ. Management of early rectal cancer. *Br J Surg* 2008;**95**(4): 409-423.

48. Bonjer HJ, Deijen CL, Abis GA, Cuesta MA, van der Pas MH, de Lange-de Klerk ES, Lacy AM, Bemelman WA, Andersson J, Angenete E, Rosenberg J, Fuerst A, Haglind E. A randomized trial of laparoscopic versus open surgery for rectal cancer. *N Engl J Med* 2015;**372**(14): 1324-1332.

49. Angenete E, Jacobsson A, Gellerstedt M, Haglind E. Effect of laparoscopy on the risk of small-bowel obstruction: a population-based register study. *Arch Surg* 2012;**147**(4): 359-365.

50. Yamada T, Okabayashi K, Hasegawa H, Tsuruta M, Yoo JH, Seishima R, Kitagawa Y. Meta-analysis of the risk of small bowel obstruction following open or laparoscopic colorectal surgery. *Br J Surg* 2016;**103**(5): 493-503.

51. Ha GW, Lee MR, Kim JH. Adhesive small bowel obstruction after laparoscopic and open colorectal surgery: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Am J Surg* 2016;**212**(3): 527-536.

52. Burns EM, Currie A, Bottle A, Aylin P, Darzi A, Faiz O. Minimalaccess colorectal surgery is associated with fewer adhesion-related admissions than open surgery. *Br J Surg* 2013;**100**(1): 152-159.

53. Aly EH. Robotic colorectal surgery: summary of the current evidence. *Int J Colorectal Dis* 2014;**29**(1): 1-8.

54. Andres A, Mentha G, Adam R, Gerstel E, Skipenko OG, Barroso E, Lopez-Ben S, Hubert C, Majno PE, Toso C. Surgical management of patients with colorectal cancer and simultaneous liver and lung metastases. *Br J Surg* 2015;**102**(6): 691-699.

55. Verwaal VJ, Bruin S, Boot H, van Slooten G, van Tinteren H. 8-year follow-up of randomized trial: cytoreduction and hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy versus systemic chemotherapy in patients with peritoneal carcinomatosis of colorectal cancer. *Ann Surg Oncol* 2008;**15**(9): 2426-2432.

56. Schmoll HJ, Van Cutsem E, Stein A, Valentini V, Glimelius B, Haustermans K, Nordlinger B, van de Velde CJ, Balmana J, Regula J, Nagtegaal ID, Beets-Tan RG, Arnold D, Ciardiello F, Hoff P, Kerr D, Kohne CH, Labianca R, Price T, Scheithauer W, Sobrero A, Tabernero J, Aderka D, Barroso S, Bodoky G, Douillard JY, El Ghazaly H, Gallardo J, Garin A, Glynne-Jones R, Jordan K, Meshcheryakov A, Papamichail D, Pfeiffer P, Souglakos I, Turhal S, Cervantes A. ESMO Consensus Guidelines for management of patients with colon and rectal cancer. a personalized approach to clinical decision making. *Ann Oncol* 2012;**23**(10): 2479-2516.

57. Pettersson D, Lorinc E, Holm T, Iversen H, Cedermark B, Glimelius B, Martling A. Tumour regression in the randomized Stockholm III Trial of radiotherapy regimens for rectal cancer. *Br J Surg* 2015;**102**(8): 972-978; discussion 978.

58. Seiwert TY, Salama JK, Vokes EE. The concurrent chemoradiation paradigm--general principles. *Nat Clin Pract Oncol* 2007;**4**(2): 86-100.

59. Improved survival with preoperative radiotherapy in resectable rectal cancer. Swedish Rectal Cancer Trial. *N Engl J Med* 1997;**336**(14): 980-987.

60. Petersen SH, Harling H, Kirkeby LT, Wille-Jorgensen P, Mocellin S. Postoperative adjuvant chemotherapy in rectal cancer operated for cure. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2012(3): CD004078.

61. Braendengen M, Tveit KM, Bruheim K, Cvancarova M, Berglund A, Glimelius B. Late patient-reported toxicity after preoperative radiotherapy or chemoradiotherapy in nonresectable rectal cancer: results from a randomized Phase III study. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys* 2011;**81**(4): 1017-1024.

62. Mokhles S, Macbeth F, Farewell V, Fiorentino F, Williams NR, Younes RN, Takkenberg JJ, Treasure T. Meta-analysis of colorectal cancer follow-up after potentially curative resection. *Br J Surg* 2016;**103**(10): 1259-1268.

63. Hansdotter Andersson P, Wille-Jorgensen P, Horvath-Puho E, Petersen SH, Martling A, Sorensen HT, Syk I. The COLOFOL trial: study design and comparison of the study population with the source cancer population. *Clin Epidemiol* 2016;**8**: 15-21.

64. Matthiessen P, Hallbook O, Rutegard J, Simert G, Sjodahl R. Defunctioning stoma reduces symptomatic anastomotic leakage after low anterior resection of the rectum for cancer: a randomized multicenter trial. *Ann Surg* 2007;**246**(2): 207-214.

65. Akesson O, Syk I, Lindmark G, Buchwald P. Morbidity related to defunctioning loop ileostomy in low anterior resection. *Int J Colorectal Dis* 2012;**27**(12): 1619-1623.

66. Danielsen AK, Park J, Jansen JE, Bock D, Skullman S, Wedin A, Marinez AC, Haglind E, Angenete E, Rosenberg J. Early Closure of a Temporary Ileostomy in Patients With Rectal Cancer: A Multicenter Randomized Controlled Trial. *Ann Surg* 2016.

67. Gessler B, Haglind E, Angenete E. A temporary loop ileostomy affects renal function. *Int J Colorectal Dis* 2014;**29**(9): 1131-1135.

68. Musters GD, Buskens CJ, Bemelman WA, Tanis PJ. Perineal wound healing after abdominoperineal resection for rectal cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Dis Colon Rectum* 2014;**57**(9): 1129-1139.

69. Chadwick M, Vieten D, Pettitt E, Dixon A, Roe A. Short course preoperative radiotherapy is the single most important risk factor for perineal wound complications after abdominoperineal excision of the rectum. *Colorectal Disease* 2006;**8**(9): 756-761.

70. Bullard KM, Trudel JL, Baxter NN, Rothenberger DA. Primary perineal wound closure after preoperative radiotherapy and abdominoperineal resection has a high incidence of wound failure. *Diseases of the Colon & Rectum* 2005;**48**(3): 438-443.

71. Musters GD, Sloothaak DA, Roodbeen S, van Geloven AA, Bemelman WA, Tanis PJ. Perineal wound healing after abdominoperineal resection for rectal cancer: a two-centre experience in the era of intensified oncological treatment. *Int J Colorectal Dis* 2014;**29**(9): 1151-1157.

72. Martling A. Quality register-based research revisited. *Colorectal Dis* 2015;**17**(5): 371.

73. Kodeda K, Derwinger K, Gustavsson B, Nordgren S. Local recurrence of rectal cancer: a population-based cohort study of diagnosis, treatment and outcome. *Colorectal Dis* 2012;**14**(5): e230-237.

74. Palmer G, Martling A, Cedermark B, Holm T. A population-based study on the management and outcome in patients with locally recurrent rectal cancer. *Ann Surg Oncol* 2007;**14**(2): 447-454.

75. Jorgren F, Johansson R, Damber L, Lindmark G. Risk factors of rectal cancer local recurrence: population-based survey and validation of the Swedish rectal cancer registry. *Colorectal Dis* 2010;**12**(10): 977-986.

76. Olschewski M, Schulgen G, Schumacher M, Altman DG. Quality of life assessment in clinical cancer research. *Br J Cancer* 1994;**70**(1): 1-5.

77. Hassan I, Cima RR. Quality of life after rectal resection and multimodality therapy. *J Surg Oncol* 2007;**96**(8): 684-692.

78. Sprangers MA. Quality-of-life assessment in oncology. Achievements and challenges. *Acta Oncol* 2002;**41**(3): 229-237.

79. Testa MA, Simonson DC. Assessment of quality-of-life outcomes. *N Engl J Med* 1996;**334**(13): 835-840.

80. Galbraith JK. *The affluent society (Fortieth anniversary edition).* Houghton Mifflin Boston, 1998.

81. Ordway SH. *Resources and the American dream: including a theory of the limit of growth*. Ronald Press Co., 1953.

82. Fayers P, Machine D. *Quality of Life: The Assessment, Analysis and Interpretation of Patient-Reported Outcomes.* John Wiley & Sons Ltd: West Sussex, 2007.

83. Ware JE, Jr., Sherbourne CD. The MOS 36-item short-form health survey (SF-36). I. Conceptual framework and item selection. *Med Care* 1992;**30**(6): 473-483.

84. Sullivan M, Karlsson J, Ware JE, Jr. The Swedish SF-36 Health Survey--I. Evaluation of data quality, scaling assumptions, reliability and construct validity across general populations in Sweden. *Soc Sci Med* 1995;**41**(10): 1349-1358.
85. Rabin R, de Charro F. EQ-5D: a measure of health status from the EuroQol Group. *Ann Med* 2001;**33**(5): 337-343.

86. Sprangers MA, Cull A, Bjordal K, Groenvold M, Aaronson NK. The European Organization for Research and Treatment of Cancer. Approach to quality of life assessment: guidelines for developing questionnaire modules. EORTC Study Group on Quality of Life. *Qual Life Res* 1993;**2**(4): 287-295.

87. Aaronson NK, Ahmedzai S, Bergman B, Bullinger M, Cull A, Duez NJ, Filiberti A, Flechtner H, Fleishman SB, de Haes JC, et al. The European Organization for Research and Treatment of Cancer QLQ-C30: a quality-of-life instrument for use in international clinical trials in oncology. *J Natl Cancer Inst* 1993;**85**(5): 365-376.

88. Sprangers MA, te Velde A, Aaronson NK. The construction and testing of the EORTC colorectal cancer-specific quality of life questionnaire module (QLQ-CR38). European Organization for Research and Treatment of Cancer Study Group on Quality of Life. *Eur J Cancer* 1999;**35**(2): 238-247.

89. Thaysen HV, Jess P, Laurberg S, Groenvold M. Validation of the Danish version of the disease specific instrument EORTC QLQ-CR38 to assess health-related quality of life in patients with colorectal cancer. *Health Qual Life Outcomes* 2012;**10**: 150.

90. Whistance RN, Conroy T, Chie W, Costantini A, Sezer O, Koller M, Johnson CD, Pilkington SA, Arraras J, Ben-Josef E, Pullyblank AM, Fayers P, Blazeby JM, European Organisation for the R, Treatment of Cancer Quality of Life G. Clinical and psychometric validation of the EORTC QLQ-CR29 questionnaire module to assess health-related quality of life in patients with colorectal cancer. *Eur J Cancer* 2009;**45**(17): 3017-3026.

91. Gujral S, Conroy T, Fleissner C, Sezer O, King PM, Avery KN, Sylvester P, Koller M, Sprangers MA, Blazeby JM, European Organisation for R, Treatment of Cancer Quality of Life G. Assessing quality of life in patients with colorectal cancer: an update of the EORTC quality of life questionnaire. *Eur J Cancer* 2007;**43**(10): 1564-1573.

92. Bernhard J, Sullivan M, Hurny C, Coates AS, Rudenstam CM. Clinical relevance of single item quality of life indicators in cancer clinical trials. *Br J Cancer* 2001;**84**(9): 1156-1165.

93. Hagg O, Fritzell P, Oden A, Nordwall A. Simplifying outcome measurement: evaluation of instruments for measuring outcome after fusion surgery for chronic low back pain. *Spine (Phila Pa 1976)* 2002;**27**(11): 1213-1222.

94. Gill TM. Quality of life assessment: values and pitfalls. *J R Soc Med* 1995;**88**(12): 680-682.

95. Sprangers MA, Schwartz CE. Integrating response shift into healthrelated quality of life research: a theoretical model. *Soc Sci Med* 1999;**48**(11): 1507-1515.

96. Schwartz CE, Sprangers MA. Methodological approaches for assessing response shift in longitudinal health-related quality-of-life research. *Soc Sci Med* 1999;**48**(11): 1531-1548.

97. Bowling A. Mode of questionnaire administration can have serious effects on data quality. *J Public Health (Oxf)* 2005;**27**(3): 281-291.

98. Mansson A, Henningsohn L, Steineck G, Mansson W. Neutral third party versus treating institution for evaluating quality of life after radical cystectomy. *Eur Urol* 2004;**46**(2): 195-199.

99. Johnston BC, Patrick DL, Busse JW, Schunemann HJ, Agarwal A, Guyatt GH. Patient-reported outcomes in meta-analyses--Part 1: assessing risk of bias and combining outcomes. *Health Qual Life Outcomes* 2013;11(1): 109.

100. Hendren SK, O'Connor BI, Liu M, Asano T, Cohen Z, Swallow CJ, Macrae HM, Gryfe R, McLeod RS. Prevalence of male and female sexual dysfunction is high following surgery for rectal cancer. *Ann Surg* 2005;**242**(2): 212-223.

101. Kasparek MS, Hassan I, Cima RR, Larson DR, Gullerud RE, Wolff BG. Long-term quality of life and sexual and urinary function after abdominoperineal resection for distal rectal cancer. *Dis Colon Rectum* 2012;**55**(2): 147-154.

102. Marijnen CA, van de Velde CJ, Putter H, van den Brink M, Maas CP, Martijn H, Rutten HJ, Wiggers T, Kranenbarg EK, Leer JW, Stiggelbout AM. Impact of short-term preoperative radiotherapy on health-related quality of life and sexual functioning in primary rectal cancer: report of a multicenter randomized trial. *J Clin Oncol* 2005;**23**(9): 1847-1858.

103. Copay AG, Subach BR, Glassman SD, Polly DW, Jr., Schuler TC. Understanding the minimum clinically important difference: a review of concepts and methods. *Spine J* 2007;7(5): 541-546.

104. Revicki DA, Erickson PA, Sloan JA, Dueck A, Guess H, Santanello NC. Interpreting and reporting results based on patient-reported outcomes. *Value Health* 2007;**10 Suppl 2**: S116-124.

105. Guyatt GH, Osoba D, Wu AW, Wyrwich KW, Norman GR. Methods to explain the clinical significance of health status measures. *Mayo Clin Proc* 2002;77(4): 371-383.

106. Wyrwich KW, Norquist JM, Lenderking WR, Acaster S. Methods for interpreting change over time in patient-reported outcome measures. *Qual Life Res* 2013;**22**(3): 475-483.

107. Norman GR, Sloan JA, Wyrwich KW. Interpretation of changes in health-related quality of life: the remarkable universality of half a standard deviation. *Med Care* 2003;**41**(5): 582-592.

108. Welsch T, Mategakis V, Contin P, Kulu Y, Buchler MW, Ulrich A. Results of extralevator abdominoperineal resection for low rectal cancer including

quality of life and long-term wound complications. *Int J Colorectal Dis* 2013;**28**(4): 503-510.

109. Han JG, Wang ZJ, Wei GH, Gao ZG, Yang Y, Zhao BC. Randomized clinical trial of conventional versus cylindrical abdominoperineal resection for locally advanced lower rectal cancer. *Am J Surg* 2012;**204**(3): 274-282.

110. Keating JP. Sexual function after rectal excision. *ANZ J Surg* 2004;74(4): 248-259.

111. Eveno C, Lamblin A, Mariette C, Pocard M. Sexual and urinary dysfunction after proctectomy for rectal cancer. *J Visc Surg* 2010;**147**(1): e21-30.

112. Stone HB, Coleman CN, Anscher MS, McBride WH. Effects of radiation on normal tissue: consequences and mechanisms. *Lancet Oncol* 2003;4(9): 529.

113. Bruheim K, Guren MG, Dahl AA, Skovlund E, Balteskard L, Carlsen E, Fossa SD, Tveit KM. Sexual function in males after radiotherapy for rectal cancer. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys* 2010;**76**(4): 1012-1017.

114. Buchli C, Martling A, Arver S, Holm T. Testicular function after radiotherapy for rectal cancer--a review. *J Sex Med* 2011;**8**(11): 3220-3226.

115. Emmertsen KJ, Laurberg S. Low anterior resection syndrome score: development and validation of a symptom-based scoring system for bowel dysfunction after low anterior resection for rectal cancer. *Ann Surg* 2012;**255**(5): 922-928.

116. Bryant CL, Lunniss PJ, Knowles CH, Thaha MA, Chan CL. Anterior resection syndrome. *Lancet Oncol* 2012;**13**(9): e403-408.

117. Lundby L, Krogh K, Jensen VJ, Gandrup P, Qvist N, Overgaard J, Laurberg S. Long-term anorectal dysfunction after postoperative radiotherapy for rectal cancer. *Dis Colon Rectum* 2005;**48**(7): 1343-1349; discussion 1349-1352; author reply 1352.

118. Alsadius D, Hedelin M, Lundstedt D, Pettersson N, Wilderang U, Steineck G. Mean absorbed dose to the anal-sphincter region and fecal leakage among irradiated prostate cancer survivors. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys* 2012;**84**(2): e181-185.

119. Canda AE, Terzi C, Gorken IB, Oztop I, Sokmen S, Fuzun M. Effects of preoperative chemoradiotherapy on anal sphincter functions and quality of life in rectal cancer patients. *International journal of colorectal disease* 2010;**25**(2): 197-204.

120. Bruheim K, Guren MG, Skovlund E, Hjermstad MJ, Dahl O, Frykholm G, Carlsen E, Tveit KM. Late side effects and quality of life after radiotherapy for rectal cancer. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys* 2010;**76**(4): 1005-1011.

121. Carne PW, Robertson GM, Frizelle FA. Parastomal hernia. *Br J Surg* 2003;**90**(7): 784-793.

122. Feddern ML, Emmertsen KJ, Laurberg S. Life with a stoma after curative resection for rectal cancer: a population-based cross-sectional study. *Colorectal Dis* 2015;**17**(11): 1011-1017.

123. Bregendahl S, Emmertsen KJ, Lindegaard JC, Laurberg S. Urinary and sexual dysfunction in women after resection with and without preoperative radiotherapy for rectal cancer: a population-based cross-sectional study. *Colorectal Dis* 2015;**17**(1): 26-37.

124. Bruheim K, Tveit KM, Skovlund E, Balteskard L, Carlsen E, Fossa SD, Guren MG. Sexual function in females after radiotherapy for rectal cancer. *Acta Oncol* 2010;**49**(6): 826-832.

125. Ho VP, Lee Y, Stein SL, Temple LK. Sexual function after treatment for rectal cancer: a review. *Dis Colon Rectum* 2011;**54**(1): 113-125.

126. Ledebo A, Prytz M, Bock D, Haglind E, Angenete E. Unpublished data, 2016.

127. Tekkis PP, Cornish JA, Remzi FH, Tilney HS, Strong SA, Church JM, Lavery IC, Fazio VW. Measuring sexual and urinary outcomes in women after rectal cancer excision. *Dis Colon Rectum* 2009;**52**(1): 46-54.

128. Schmidt C, Daun A, Malchow B, Kuchler T. Sexual impairment and its effects on quality of life in patients with rectal cancer. *Dtsch Arztebl Int* 2010;**107**(8): 123-130.

129. Lange MM, Marijnen CA, Maas CP, Putter H, Rutten HJ, Stiggelbout AM, Meershoek-Klein Kranenbarg E, van de Velde CJ. Risk factors for sexual dysfunction after rectal cancer treatment. *European Journal of Cancer* 2009;**45**(9): 1578-1588.

130. da Silva GM, Hull T, Roberts PL, Ruiz DE, Wexner SD, Weiss EG, Nogueras JJ, Daniel N, Bast J, Hammel J, Sands D. The effect of colorectal surgery in female sexual function, body image, self-esteem and general health: a prospective study. *Ann Surg* 2008;**248**(2): 266-272.

131. McGlone ER, Khan O, Flashman K, Khan J, Parvaiz A. Urogenital function following laparoscopic and open rectal cancer resection: a comparative study. *Surg Endosc* 2012;**26**(9): 2559-2565.

132. Andersson J, Abis G, Gellerstedt M, Angenete E, Angeras U, Cuesta MA, Jess P, Rosenberg J, Bonjer HJ, Haglind E. Patient-reported genitourinary dysfunction after laparoscopic and open rectal cancer surgery in a randomized trial (COLOR II). *Br J Surg* 2014;**101**(10): 1272-1279.

133. Schmidt CE, Bestmann B, Kuchler T, Kremer B. Factors influencing sexual function in patients with rectal cancer. *Int J Impot Res* 2005;**17**(3): 231-238.

134. Angenete E, Asplund D, Andersson J, Haglind E. Self reported experience of sexual function and quality after abdominoperineal excision in a prospective cohort. *Int J Surg* 2014;**12**(11): 1221-1227.

135. Emmertsen KJ, Laurberg S. Bowel dysfunction after treatment for rectal cancer. *Acta Oncol* 2008;**47**(6): 994-1003.

136. How P, Stelzner S, Branagan G, Bundy K, Chandrakumaran K, Heald RJ, Moran B. Comparative quality of life in patients following abdominoperineal excision and low anterior resection for low rectal cancer. *Dis Colon Rectum* 2012;**55**(4): 400-406.

137. Emmertsen KJ, Laurberg S, Rectal Cancer Function Study G. Impact of bowel dysfunction on quality of life after sphincter-preserving resection for rectal cancer. *Br J Surg* 2013;**100**(10): 1377-1387.

138. Juul T, Ahlberg M, Biondo S, Espin E, Jimenez LM, Matzel KE, Palmer GJ, Sauermann A, Trenti L, Zhang W, Laurberg S, Christensen P. Low anterior

resection syndrome and quality of life: an international multicenter study. *Dis Colon Rectum* 2014;**57**(5): 585-591.

139. Kasparek MS, Hassan I, Cima RR, Larson DR, Gullerud RE, Wolff BG. Quality of life after coloanal anastomosis and abdominoperineal resection for distal rectal cancers: sphincter preservation vs quality of life. *Colorectal Dis* 2011;**13**(8): 872-877.

140. Fucini C, Gattai R, Urena C, Bandettini L, Elbetti C. Quality of life among five-year survivors after treatment for very low rectal cancer with or without a permanent abdominal stoma. *Ann Surg Oncol* 2008;**15**(4): 1099-1106.

141. Kuzu MA, Topcu O, Ucar K, Ulukent S, Unal E, Erverdi N, Elhan A, Demirci S. Effect of sphincter-sacrificing surgery for rectal carcinoma on quality of life in Muslim patients. *Dis Colon Rectum* 2002;**45**(10): 1359-1366.

142. Bossema ER, Seuntiens MW, Marijnen CA, Baas-Thijssen MC, van de Velde CJ, Stiggelbout AM. The relation between illness cognitions and quality of life in people with and without a stoma following rectal cancer treatment. *Psychooncology* 2011;**20**(4): 428-434.

143. Engel J, Kerr J, Schlesinger-Raab A, Eckel R, Sauer H, Hölzel D. Quality of life in rectal cancer patients: a four-year prospective study. *Ann Surg* 2003;**238**(2): 203.

144. Pachler J, Wille-Jorgensen P. Quality of life after rectal resection for cancer, with or without permanent colostomy. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2012;**12**: CD004323.

145. Cornish JA, Tilney HS, Heriot AG, Lavery IC, Fazio VW, Tekkis PP. A meta-analysis of quality of life for abdominoperineal excision of rectum versus anterior resection for rectal cancer. *Ann Surg Oncol* 2007;**14**(7): 2056-2068.

146. Angenete E, Correa-Marinez A, Heath J, Gonzalez E, Wedin A, Prytz M, Asplund D, Haglind E. Ostomy function after abdominoperineal resection--a clinical and patient evaluation. *Int J Colorectal Dis* 2012;**27**(10): 1267-1274.

147. Marinez AC, Gonzalez E, Holm K, Bock D, Prytz M, Haglind E, Angenete E. Stoma-related symptoms in patients operated for rectal cancer with abdominoperineal excision. *Int J Colorectal Dis* 2016;**31**(3): 635-641.

148. Nasvall P, Dahlstrand U, Lowenmark T, Rutegard J, Gunnarsson U, Strigard K. Quality of life in patients with a permanent stoma after rectal cancer surgery. *Qual Life Res* 2016.

149. Asplund D, Prytz M, Bock D, Haglind E, Angenete E. Persistent perineal morbidity is common following abdominoperineal excision for rectal cancer. *Int J Colorectal Dis* 2015;**30**(11): 1563-1570.

150. Jensen KK, Rashid L, Pilsgaard B, Moller P, Wille-Jorgensen P. Pelvic floor reconstruction with a biological mesh after extralevator abdominoperineal excision leads to few perineal hernias and acceptable wound complication rates with minor movement limitations: single-centre experience including clinical examination and interview. *Colorectal Dis* 2014;**16**(3): 192-197.

151. Haapamaki MM, Pihlgren V, Lundberg O, Sandzen B, Rutegard J. Physical performance and quality of life after extended abdominoperineal excision of
rectum and reconstruction of the pelvic floor with gluteus maximus flap. *Dis Colon Rectum* 2011;**54**(1): 101-106.

152. Aboian E, Winter DC, Metcalf DR, Wolff BG. Perineal hernia after proctectomy: prevalence, risks, and management. *Dis Colon Rectum* 2006;**49**(10): 1564-1568.

153. Sayers AE, Patel RK, Hunter IA. Perineal hernia formation following extralevator abdominoperineal excision. *Colorectal Dis* 2015;**17**(4): 351-355.

154. Smith MY, Redd WH, Peyser C, Vogl D. Post-traumatic stress disorder in cancer: a review. *Psychooncology* 1999;**8**(6): 521-537.

155. Salsman JM, Schalet BD, Andrykowski MA, Cella D. The impact of events scale: a comparison of frequency versus severity approaches to measuring cancer-specific distress. *Psychooncology* 2015;**24**(12): 1738-1745.

156. Whitaker KL, Brewin CR, Watson M. Intrusive cognitions and anxiety in cancer patients. *J Psychosom Res* 2008;64(5): 509-517.

157. Kangas M, Henry JL, Bryant RA. Posttraumatic stress disorder following cancer. A conceptual and empirical review. *Clin Psychol Rev* 2002;**22**(4): 499-524.

158. Thorsteinsdottir T, Hedelin M, Stranne J, Valdimarsdottir H, Wilderang U, Haglind E, Steineck G, Committee LA. Intrusive thoughts and quality of life among men with prostate cancer before and three months after surgery. *Health Qual Life Outcomes* 2013;**11**: 154.

159. Nordin K, Glimelius B. Psychological reactions in newly diagnosed gastrointestinal cancer patients. *Acta Oncol* 1997;**36**(8): 803-810.

160. Lindgren ME, Fagundes CP, Alfano CM, Povoski SP, Agnese DM, Arnold MW, Farrar WB, Yee LD, Carson WE, Schmidt CR, Kiecolt-Glaser JK. Betablockers may reduce intrusive thoughts in newly diagnosed cancer patients. *Psychooncology* 2013;**22**(8): 1889-1894.

161. Horowitz M, Wilner N, Alvarez W. Impact of Event Scale: a measure of subjective stress. *Psychosom Med* 1979;**41**(3): 209-218.

162. Antoni MH, Wimberly SR, Lechner SC, Kazi A, Sifre T, Urcuyo KR, Phillips K, Smith RG, Petronis VM, Guellati S, Wells KA, Blomberg B, Carver CS. Reduction of cancer-specific thought intrusions and anxiety symptoms with a stress management intervention among women undergoing treatment for breast cancer. *Am J Psychiatry* 2006;**163**(10): 1791-1797.

163. Arden-Close E, Gidron Y, Bayne L, Moss-Morris R. Written emotional disclosure for women with ovarian cancer and their partners: randomised controlled trial. *Psychooncology* 2013;**22**(10): 2262-2269.

164. Low CA, Stanton AL, Bower JE, Gyllenhammer L. A randomized controlled trial of emotionally expressive writing for women with metastatic breast cancer. *Health Psychol* 2010;**29**(4): 460-466.

165. Antonovsky A. The structure and properties of the sense of coherence scale. *Soc Sci Med* 1993;**36**(6): 725-733.

166. Mittelmark M, Sagy S, Eriksson M, Bauer G, Pelikan J, Lindström B, Espnes G. *The Handbook of Salutogenesis*. Springer, 2016. http://link.springer.com/book/10.1007/978-3-319-04600-6. 167. Eriksson M, Lindstrom B. Validity of Antonovsky's sense of coherence scale: a systematic review. *J Epidemiol Community Health* 2005;**59**(6): 460-466.

168. Eriksson M, Lindstrom B. Antonovsky's sense of coherence scale and its relation with quality of life: a systematic review. *J Epidemiol Community Health* 2007;**61**(11): 938-944.

169. Hyphantis T, Paika V, Almyroudi A, Kampletsas EO, Pavlidis N. Personality variables as predictors of early non-metastatic colorectal cancer patients' psychological distress and health-related quality of life: a one-year prospective study. *J Psychosom Res* 2011;**70**(5): 411-421.

170. Paika V, Almyroudi A, Tomenson B, Creed F, Kampletsas EO, Siafaka V, Gkika S, Mavreas V, Pavlidis N, Hyphantis T. Personality variables are associated with colorectal cancer patients' quality of life independent of psychological distress and disease severity. *Psychooncology* 2010;**19**(3): 273-282.

171. Kahonen K, Naatanen P, Tolvanen A, Salmela-Aro K. Development of sense of coherence during two group interventions. *Scand J Psychol* 2012;**53**(6): 523-527.

172. Yamazaki Y, Togari T, Sakano J. Toward Development of Intervention Methods for Strengthening the Sense of Coherence: Suggestions from Japan. In: *Asian perspectives and evidence on health promotion and education*. Springer, 2011; 118-132.

173. Langeland E, Riise T, Hanestad BR, Nortvedt MW, Kristoffersen K, Wahl AK. The effect of salutogenic treatment principles on coping with mental health problems A randomised controlled trial. *Patient Educ Couns* 2006;**62**(2): 212-219.

174. Prytz M, Angenete E, Haglind E. Abdominoperineal extralevator resection. *Dan Med J* 2012;**59**(9): A4366.

175. Kodeda K, Nathanaelsson L, Jung B, Olsson H, Jestin P, Sjovall A, Glimelius B, Pahlman L, Syk I. Population-based data from the Swedish Colon Cancer Registry. *Br J Surg* 2013;**100**(8): 1100-1107.

176. Iversen LH, Green A, Ingeholm P, Osterlind K, Gogenur I. Improved survival of colorectal cancer in Denmark during 2001-2012 - The efforts of several national initiatives. *Acta Oncol* 2016;**55 Suppl 2**: 10-23.

177. Brooks R. EuroQol: the current state of play. *Health Policy* 1996;**37**(1): 53-72.

178. Thorsteinsdottir T, Stranne J, Carlsson S, Anderberg B, Bjorholt I, Damber JE, Hugosson J, Wilderang U, Wiklund P, Steineck G, Haglind E. LAPPRO: a prospective multicentre comparative study of robot-assisted laparoscopic and retropubic radical prostatectomy for prostate cancer. *Scand J Urol Nephrol* 2011;**45**(2): 102-112.

179. Steineck G, Hunt H, Adolfsson J. A hierarchical step-model for causation of bias-evaluating cancer treatment with epidemiological methods. *Acta Oncol* 2006;**45**(4): 421-429.

180. Steineck G, Bergmark K, Henningsohn L, al-Abany M, Dickman PW, Helgason A. Symptom documentation in cancer survivors as a basis for therapy modifications. *Acta Oncol* 2002;**41**(3): 244-252.

181. Omerov P, Steineck G, Runeson B, Christensson A, Kreicbergs U, Pettersen R, Rubenson B, Skoogh J, Radestad I, Nyberg U. Preparatory studies to a population-based survey of suicide-bereaved parents in Sweden. *Crisis* 2013;**34**(3): 200-210.

182. Asplund D, Heath J, Gonzalez E, Ekelund J, Rosenberg J, Haglind E, Angenete E. Self-reported quality of life and functional outcome in patients with rectal cancer--QoLiRECT. *Dan Med J* 2014;**61**(5): A4841.

183. Steineck G, Helgesen F, Adolfsson J, Dickman PW, Johansson JE, Norlen BJ, Holmberg L, Scandinavian Prostatic Cancer Group Study N. Quality of life after radical prostatectomy or watchful waiting. *N Engl J Med* 2002;**347**(11): 790-796.
184. Sunny L, Hopfgarten T, Adolfsson J, Steineck G. Economic conditions and marriage quality of men with prostate cancer. *BJU Int* 2007;**99**(6):

1391-1397.

185. Danielsen AK, Pommergaard HC, Burcharth J, Angenete E, Rosenberg J. Translation of questionnaires measuring health related quality of life is not standardized: a literature based research study. *PLoS One* 2015;**10**(5): e0127050.

186. Wild D, Grove A, Martin M, Eremenco S, McElroy S, Verjee-Lorenz A, Erikson P. Principles of Good Practice for the Translation and Cultural Adaptation Process for Patient-Reported Outcomes (PRO) Measures: report of the ISPOR Task Force for Translation and Cultural Adaptation. *Value Health* 2005;8(2): 94-104.

187. *The Danish Colorectal Cancer Database*. Annual review 2014. <u>http://www.dccg.dk</u> [11 September 2016].

188. Nakash RA, Hutton JL, Jorstad-Stein EC, Gates S, Lamb SE. Maximising response to postal questionnaires--a systematic review of randomised trials in health research. *BMC Med Res Methodol* 2006;6: 5.

189. Jorgren F, Johansson R, Damber L, Lindmark G. Validity of the Swedish Rectal Cancer Registry for patients treated with major abdominal surgery between 1995 and 1997. *Acta Oncol* 2013;**52**(8): 1707-1714.

190. Sloan JA, Dueck AC, Erickson PA, Guess H, Revicki DA, Santanello NC. Analysis and interpretation of results based on patient-reported outcomes. *Value Health* 2007;**10 Suppl 2**: S106-115.

191. Hoerske C, Weber K, Goehl J, Hohenberger W, Merkel S. Long-term outcomes and quality of life after rectal carcinoma surgery. *British Journal of Surgery* 2010;**97**(8): 1295-1303.

192. Wilson TR, Alexander DJ. Clinical and non-clinical factors influencing postoperative health-related quality of life in patients with colorectal cancer. *British Journal of Surgery* 2008;**95**(11): 1408-1415.

193. Goldzweig G, Andritsch E, Hubert A, Walach N, Perry S, Brenner B, Baider L. How relevant is marital status and gender variables in coping with colorectal cancer? A sample of middle-aged and older cancer survivors. *Psychooncology* 2009;**18**(8): 866-874.

194. Gray NM, Hall SJ, Browne S, Macleod U, Mitchell E, Lee AJ, Johnston M, Wyke S, Samuel L, Weller D, Campbell NC. Modifiable and fixed factors predicting quality of life in people with colorectal cancer. *Br J Cancer* 2011;**104**(11): 1697-1703.

195. Sales PM, Carvalho AF, McIntyre RS, Pavlidis N, Hyphantis TN. Psychosocial predictors of health outcomes in colorectal cancer: a comprehensive review. *Cancer Treat Rev* 2014;**40**(6): 800-809.

196. Camilleri-Brennan J, Steele R. Prospective analysis of quality of life and survival following mesorectal excision for rectal cancer. *British journal of surgery* 2001;**88**(12): 1617-1622.

197. Pickard AS, Neary MP, Cella D. Estimation of minimally important differences in EQ-5D utility and VAS scores in cancer. *Health Qual Life Outcomes* 2007;**5**: 70.

198. Matsuoka Y, Nakano T, Inagaki M, Sugawara Y, Akechi T, Imoto S, Murakami K, Yamawaki S, Uchitomi Y. Cancer-related intrusive thoughts as an indicator of poor psychological adjustment at 3 or more years after breast surgery: a preliminary study. *Breast Cancer Res Treat* 2002;**76**(2): 117-124.

199. Stelzner S, Koehler C, Stelzer J, Sims A, Witzigmann H. Extended abdominoperineal excision vs. standard abdominoperineal excision in rectal cancer--a systematic overview. *Int J Colorectal Dis* 2011;**26**(10): 1227-1240.

200. Ramsay G, Parnaby C, Mackay C, Hanlon P, Ong S, Loudon M. Analysis of outcome using a levator sparing technique of abdominoperineal excision of rectum and anus. Cylindrical ELAPE is not necessary in all patients. *Eur J Surg Oncol* 2013;**39**(11): 1219-1224.

201. De Nardi P, Summo V, Vignali A, Capretti G. Standard versus extralevator abdominoperineal low rectal cancer excision outcomes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Ann Surg Oncol* 2015;**22**(9): 2997-3006.

202. Butt HZ, Salem MK, Vijaynagar B, Chaudhri S, Singh B. Perineal reconstruction after extra-levator abdominoperineal excision (eLAPE): a systematic review. *Int J Colorectal Dis* 2013;**28**(11): 1459-1468.

203. Foster JD, Pathak S, Smart NJ, Branagan G, Longman RJ, Thomas MG, Francis N. Reconstruction of the perineum following extralevator abdominoperineal excision for carcinoma of the lower rectum: a systematic review. *Colorectal Dis* 2012;**14**(9): 1052-1059.

204. Musters GD, Bemelman WA, Bosker RJ, Burger JW, van Duijvendijk P, van Etten B, van Geloven AA, de Graaf EJ, Hoff C, de Korte N, Leijtens JW, Rutten HJ, Singh B, van de Ven A, Vuylsteke RJ, de Wilt JH, Dijkgraaf MG, Tanis PJ. Randomized controlled multicentre study comparing biological mesh closure of the pelvic floor with primary perineal wound closure after extralevator abdominoperineal resection for rectal cancer (BIOPEX-study). *BMC Surg* 2014;**14**: 58.

205. Sinna R, Alharbi M, Assaf N, Perignon D, Qassemyar Q, Gianfermi M, Deguines JB, Regimbeau JM, Mauvais F. Management of the perineal wound after abdominoperineal resection. *J Visc Surg* 2013;**150**(1): 9-18.

206. Krishna A, Rickard MJ, Keshava A, Dent OF, Chapuis PH. A comparison of published rates of resection margin involvement and intra-operative perforation between standard and 'cylindrical' abdominoperineal excision for low rectal cancer. *Colorectal Dis* 2013;**15**(1): 57-65.

207. Yang Y, Xu H, Shang Z, Chen S, Chen F, Deng Q, Luo L, Zhu L, Shi B. Outcome of extralevator abdominoperineal excision over conventional abdominoperineal excision for low rectal tumor: a meta-analysis. *Int J Clin Exp Med* 2015;**8**(9): 14855-14862.

208. Yu HC, Peng H, He XS, Zhao RS. Comparison of short- and longterm outcomes after extralevator abdominoperineal excision and standard abdominoperineal excision for rectal cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Int J Colorectal Dis* 2014;**29**(2): 183-191.

209. Messenger DE, Cohen Z, Kirsch R, O'Connor BI, Victor JC, Huang H, McLeod RS. Favorable pathologic and long-term outcomes from the conventional approach to abdominoperineal resection. *Dis Colon Rectum* 2011;**54**(7): 793-802.

210. Smedh K, Khani MH, Kraaz W, Raab Y, Strand E. Abdominoperineal excision with partial anterior en bloc resection in multimodal management of low rectal cancer: a strategy to reduce local recurrence. *Dis Colon Rectum* 2006;**49**(6): 833-840.

211. Merz EL, Fox RS, Malcarne VL. Expressive writing interventions in cancer patients: a systematic review. *Health Psychol Rev* 2014;**8**(3): 339-361.

212. Klein M, Fischer A, Rosenberg J, Gogenur I. Extralevatory abdominoperineal excision (ELAPE) does not result in reduced rate of tumor perforation or rate of positive circumferential resection margin: a nationwide database study. *Ann Surg* 2015;**261**(5): 933-938.

APPENDIX

Orientation to Life Questionnaire (SOC-29)

Paper I-IV

Sei Sou and	nse of Coheren rce: Antonovsky, A Stay Well. San Fran	nce – C Aaron Un ncisco 19)rienta traveling 87.	tion t the Mys	o Life tery of l	e Questionnaire – 29 items Health. How People Manage Stress
C =	comprehensibility	Ma = n	nanageabili	ty Mo	e = meani	ng
R =	before calculating the to	otal score th	is should b	e reverse	1.	
1. R	When you talk to p 1 2 3 Never	eople, do 4	you have 5	e the fee 6	ling tha 7	t they don't understand you? (C) Always have this feeling
2.	In the past, when y others, did you hav 1 2 Surely wouldn't get done	ou had to e the feel 3	do some ing that i 4	thing wl t: (Ma) 5	nich dep 6	ended upon cooperation with 7 Surely would get done
3.	Think of the people whom you feel close 1 2 You feel that they're strangers	e with wh sest. How 3	om you c well do 4	ome int you kno 5	o contac w most 6	et daily, aside from the ones to of them? (C) 7 You know them very well
4. R	Do you have the fe 1 2 Very seldom or never	eling that 3	you don 4	't really 5	care abo 6	out what goes on around you? (Me) 7 Very often
5. R	Has it happened in thought you knew 1 2 Never happened	the past t well? (C 3	hat you v C) 4	vere surj 5	prised by	y the behaviour of people whom you 7 Always happened
6. R	Has it happened tha 1 2 Never happened	at people 3	whom yc 4	ou count 5	ed on di 6	sappointed you? (Ma) 7 Always happened
7. R	Life is: (Me) 1 2 Full of interest	3	4	5	6	7 Completely routine
8.	Until now your life 1 2 No clear goals or purpose at all	has had: 3	(Me) 4	5	6	7 Very clear goals and purpose
9.	Do you have the fe 1 2 Very often	eling that 3	you're b 4	eing trea 5	ated unf 6	airly? (Ma) 7 Very seldom or never

10.	In the past ten years your life has been: (C)							
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	
	Full of change	es	0	•	0	0	Completely consistent and clear	
	without your l	knowing					compretery consistent and creat	
	what will hap	pen next						
		L						
11.	Most of the	things ve	ou do in t	the future	will pro	bably be	e: (Me)	
R	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	
ĸ	Completely	2	5	т	5	0	/ Deadly horing	
	fascinating						Deadily borning	
	labellating							
12	Do you have	a tha faal	ling that		on unfo	milionai	tuation and dan't know what to	
12. Do you have the feeling that you are in an unfamiliar situation and don't know 1.2×10^{-10}							tuation and don't know what to	
	do? (C)				_			
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	
	Very often						Very seldom or never	
13.	What best d	lescribes	how you	see life:	(Ma)			
R	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	
	One can alwa	ivs	-	-	-		There is no solution to painful	
	find a solutio	n to					thins in life	
	painful things	s in life						
14	When you f	hink abo	ut vour li	fe vou v	erv often	· (Me)		
р.	1	2 2	2	<i>A</i>	5	6	7	
ĸ	I Faal how goo		5	4	5	0	/ A sk yourself why you exist at all	
	it is to be alia	70 70					Ask yourself wily you exist at all	
15	W 71		°° 14	1.1		£ 1 .	tion in (C)	
15.	when you f	ace a dif	ficult pro	blem, the	choice o	of a solu	tion is: (C)	
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	
	Always confi	using					Always completely clear	
	and hard to fi	nd						
16.	Doing the th	nings you	1 do ever	y day is: ((Me)			
R	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	
	A source of d	leep					A source of pain and boredom	
	pleasure and							
	satisfaction							
17. Your life in the future will probably be: (C)								
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	
	Full of chang	es	5	т	5	0	Completely consistent and clear	
	without know	vino					completely consistent and clear	
	what will har	men next						
	what whit hap	Pen nem						
10	When some	thing up	nlaggant l	honnonod	in the ne	act your	tondonov was: (Ma)	
10.		aning un		1 appeneu	fin the pa	ast your	7	
	1	2	3	4	3	0		
	"To eat yours	self up?					To say "ok that's that, I have to live	
	about it						with it and go on	
19.	Do you hav	e very m	1xed-up f	eelings a	nd ideas'	? (C)		
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	
	Very often						Very seldom or never	

20.	When you do something that gives you a good feeling: (Ma)							
R	1 2 It's certain that you'll go on feeling good	3	4	5	6	7 It's certain that something will happen to spoil the feeling		
21.	Does it happen that 1 2 Very often	you have 3	e feelings 4	inside yc 5	ou would 6	l rather not feel? (C) 7 Very seldom or never		
22.	You anticipate that 1 2 Totally without meaning or purpose	your pers 3	onal life 4	in the fut 5	ure will 6	be: (Me) 7 Full of meaning and purpose		
23. R	Do you think that the future? (Ma) 1 2 You're certain there will be	nere will a	always be 4	e people v 5	vhom yc 6	ou'll be able to count on in the 7 You doubt there will be		
24.	Does it happen that happen? (C) 1 2 Very often	you have	the feeli 4	ng that yo 5	ou don't 6	know exactly what's about to 7 Very seldom or never		
25. R	Many people – even (losers) in certain si 1 2 Never	n those w tuations. 3	ith a stroi How ofte 4	ng charac en have ye 5	ter – sor ou felt th 6	netimes feel like sad sacks iis way in the past? (Ma) 7 Very often		
26.	When something has 1 2 You overestimated or underestimated its importance	appened, 1 3	have you 4	generally 5	7 found t 6	hat: (C) 7 You saw things in the right proportion		
27. R	When you think of do you have the fee 1 2 You will always succeed in overcoming the difficulties	the difficult eling that: 3	ulties you (Ma) 4	are likel 5	y to face 6	e in important aspects of your life, 7 You won't succeed in overcoming the difficulties		
28.	How often do you h daily life? (Me) 1 2 Very often	ave the f	eeling tha	t there's 5	little me	eaning in the things you do in your 7 Very seldom or never		
29.	How often do you h 1 2 Very often	ave feelin 3	ngs that y 4	ou're not 5	t sure yo 6	u can keep under control? (Ma) 7 Very seldom or never		